



European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction

INTERAGENCY GUIDANCE

Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs

2023 update

ECDC AND EMCDDA GUIDANCE

Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs: 2023 update





European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction This document is an update of the joint guidance that was published in 2011 by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) and the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). The drafting of the guidance update was coordinated by Otilia Mårdh and Janelle Sandberg from ECDC and by Anne Bergenström and Dagmar Hedrich from the EMCDDA.

The updated version of the guidance was developed with support of: Austria's National Public Health Institute (Gesundheit Österreich, GOEG) under ECDC contract no. ECD.10793/2020 (Ilonka Horváth, Ingrid Rosian-Schikuta, Tanja Schwarz), and Glasgow Caledonian University, Public Health Scotland, in partnership with the University of Bristol (Norah Palmateer, Sharon Hutchinson, Matt Hickman, Peter Vickerman, Jack Stone, Hannah Fraser, Lara Gordon) under contract CT.19.EU4MD.0099.1.0. Additional contributions from Erika Duffell, Lina Nerlander, Teymur Noori, Senia Rosales-Klintz, Anastasia Pharris, Marieke J van der Werf and Mike Catchpole at ECDC, Marica Ferri, Thomas Seyler, Jane Mounteney and Paul Griffiths at the EMCDDA.

We would like to thank the following members of the ECDC/EMCDDA Expert Panel for their valuable input: Alina Bocai (ARAS Romania, Romania); Aljona Kurbatova (National Institute for Health Development, HA-REACT partners, Estonia); Anna Tarjan (Reitox National Focal Point, Hungary); Antons Mozalevskis (WHO Regional Office for Europe, Denmark); Arian Boci (Director of Stop AIDS NGO, Albania); Astrid Leicht (Fixpunkt Berlin, Germany); Daniel Simôes (European AIDS Treatment Group (EATG), Portugal); David Otiashvili (Executive Director of Alternative Georgia, Georgia); Domingos Duran (General Directorate for Intervention on Addictive Behaviours and Dependencies, Portugal); Elli Peltola (City of Helsinki, Finland); Ganna Dovbakh (Eurasian Harm Reduction Association (EHRA), Lithuania); Ketevan Stvilia (National Centre for Disease Control and Public Health of Georgia, Georgia); Marie Jauffret-Roustide (National Institute of Health and Medical Research (Inserm) and Santé publique France, France); Marta Torrens Melich (Associate Professor of Psychiatry, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain); Mat Southall (EuroNPUD); Rafaela Rigoni (Correlation European Harm Reduction Network (C-EHRN), Italy); Ruta Kaupe (DIA+LOGS, Latvia); Sladjana Baros (Institute of Public Health of Serbia, Serbia); Viktor Mravcik (National Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Czechia); Vivian Hope (Liverpool John Moores University, United Kingdom); Vyacheslav Kushakov (Alliance for Public Health, Ukraine).

This guidance is accompanied by the following technical reports:

- EMCDDA (2023): Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs Drug treatment, needle and syringe programmes and drug consumption rooms for preventing hepatitis C, HIV and injecting risk behaviour, Technical report, EMCDDA, Lisbon [1]
- EMCDDA (2023): Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs: Review of mathematical modelling studies of opioid agonist treatment and needle and syringe programmes for preventing hepatitis C transmission, Technical report, EMCDDA, Lisbon [2]
- ECDC (2022): A systematic literature review of interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs, Technical report, ECDC, Stockholm [3]
- ECDC (2022): Summary of Expert Panel meeting discussions on interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs, Technical report, ECDC, Stockholm [4]
- ECDC (2022): Models of good practice for community-based testing, linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV, and tuberculosis and for health promotion interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs, Technical report, ECDC, Stockholm [5]

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) and European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs: 2023 update. Stockholm: ECDC; 2023.

Stockholm, November 2023

ISBN 978-92-9498-666-5 doi 10.2900/854004 Catalogue number: TQ-03-23-428-EN-N

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2023

© European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2023

Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged.

A part of the document was developed with financial assistance from the European Union through the EU4Monitoring Drugs project. Original language of the publication: English

Contents

Abbreviations	
Glossary	v
Executive summary	1
Introduction	
Why it is important to prevent and control infectious diseases in people who inject drugs	4
Guidance objectives, target audience and overview	5
Background	6
Injecting drug use	
Viral hepatitis	
HIV infection	
Skin and soft tissue infections	
Other infections affecting people who inject drugs	7
Principles for prevention and service provision	
What is new in this update of the guidance	
Guidance development	
Intervention areas	
Intervention area 1: Provision of sterile injecting equipment	
Intervention area 2: Drug dependence treatment	
Intervention area 3: Vaccination	
Intervention area 4: Testing for infectious diseases	
Intervention area 5: Infectious disease treatment	
Intervention area 6: Drug consumption rooms providing supervised injecting facilities	
Limitations and conclusions.	
Annex A. Overview of evidence update methods	
Annex B. Summary of the evidence base for the recommendations	
References	

Figures

Figure 1. Principles for prevention and service provision among people who inject drugs
Figure 2. Overarching considerations relating to the planning and implementation of interventions recommended in
the guidance, and their relationships to public health impact

Tables

Abbreviations

ART DAA DOT ECDC EEA EFTA EMCDDA ENP EU HAT HAV HBV HCC HCV HDSS HIV HPV IECS LDSS MSM NSP OAT OST PEP PICO POC PrEP PRISMA	Antiretroviral therapy (HIV) Direct-acting antiviral (HCV) Directly observed therapy European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control European Economic Area European Free Trade Association European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction European Neighbourhood Policy European Union Heroin-assisted treatment Hepatitis A virus Hepatitis B virus Hepatocellular carcinoma Hepatitis C virus High dead space syringes Human immunodeficiency virus Human papillomavirus Information, education, counselling and skills training Low dead space syringes Men who have sex with men Needle and syringe programme Opioid agonist treatment Opioid substitution treatment/therapy Post-exposure prophylaxis Population, Intervention, Comparison and Outcome Point-of-care Pre-exposure prophylaxis Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
ТВ	Tuberculosis
UN	United Nations
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
WHO	World Health Organization

Glossary

Adherence to treatment	The extent to which a patient actively follows through with prescribed	
Chronic care approach	medical treatment and recommendations. A multidimensional approach to chronic disease management that promotes application of evidence-based clinical recommendations, enhances clinical teamwork, and empowers patients to better manage their own care. It can especially benefit populations with multifaceted challenges and needs.	
Community-based approach	Where programmes and services are provided outside of healthcare facilities.	
Community-based testing	Where voluntary HBV, HCV, TB and/or HIV testing occurs outside of healthcare facilities.	
Contingency management	A behavioural management technique that involves using incentives such as cash, vouchers, prizes or other kinds of privileges to reinforce behaviours or disincentives to discourage them.	
Continuum of care	A concept that describes steps in the patient pathway, from diagnosis of an infection/disease to treatment to viral suppression or disease cure. Preventative care and quality of life beyond viral suppression can also be included in the model.	
Directly observed therapy	A method of treatment administration in which a healthcare professional watches as a person takes each dose of a medication to ensure all medications are received and taken as prescribed. It is sometimes called directly administered antiretroviral therapy (DAART) within the context of HIV/AIDS.	
Drug consumption rooms	These are generally healthcare facilities where individuals who have purchased drugs elsewhere can go to take their drugs in a clean environment, typically under the supervision of medically trained staff. Such facilities may also either provide or actively refer clients to a range of other services.	
Drug dependence treatment	This typically refers to medical (including pharmacological), psychological, social, and behavioural interventions to address problems associated with drug dependence. This can be delivered in outpatient or in inpatient settings.	
Health promotion	The 'process of enabling people to increase control over their health and its determinants and thereby improve their health' [6].	
Heroin-assisted treatment	Treatment based on provision of diamorphine (medical-grade heroin) which is generally prescribed to treat long-term heroin-dependent individuals who have not responded to standard agonist treatment. It is also referred to as supervised injectable heroin.	
Injecting risk behaviour	Behaviours that may include receptive needle/syringe sharing, passing on used needles/syringes, reusing one's own needles/syringes and sharing other non-needle/syringe injecting equipment.	
Linkage to care	The process that links a person newly diagnosed with a disease to care, including medical treatment.	
Low dead space syringes	A particular design of syringe with a lower volume of 'dead space' between the syringe and needle when the plunger is completely depressed. This results in less residual blood left in the syringe after injecting, which can reduce the risk of blood-borne virus transmission during needle/syringe sharing.	
Low-threshold services/settings	Easily accessible and affordable social and health services that remove barriers to care that are typically encountered in traditional healthcare systems.	
Multicomponent intervention	An approach in which a variety of targeted services (e.g. case management, peer mentors, social workers, mental health support) are delivered in an integrated manner.	

Opioid agonist treatment	Use of opioid agonist medications such as methadone and buprenorphine to prevent withdrawal symptoms and reduce drug cravings among opioid-dependent individuals. Opioid substitution treatment/therapy (OST) is only used in this document when a source using this term is cited. Naltrexone, an opioid antagonist, is not considered as part of OAT in this document.
Peers	People within a community with equal standing with each other, belonging to the same group and sharing a common experience. Peer support, which can occur informally or formally, refers to support provided and received by people who are peers.
People who inject drugs	Individuals who inject a psychoactive substance. In this guidance, the recommendations using this term may also include individuals on OAT.
Person-centred approach	Where programmes and services are focused on the health needs and expectations of the individual rather than diseases.
Point-of-care tests	Tests that are performed on any part of the patient's body or its derivatives, during or very close to the time of consultation, allowing availability of results at the time of the clinical decision-making.
Screening	The presumptive identification of unrecognised disease or defect by the application of tests, clinical examinations, or other procedures that can be applied rapidly. It differentiates apparently well people who probably have an infection or disease from those who probably do not.
Sterile injecting equipment	Sterile items used to prepare and/or inject drugs, including sterile syringes, needles and sterile drug preparation equipment such as cookers, filters and water.
TB disease	The disease state caused by <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> complex. It is usually characterised by clinical manifestations, which distinguish it from TB infection without signs or symptoms [8]. Used interchangeably with 'active TB' to differentiate it from TB infection.
TB infection	State of persistent immune response to stimulation by <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> antigens with no evidence of clinically manifest active tuberculosis [7]. Also referred as latent TB infection (LTBI).
Telemedicine	The use of telecommunication technologies to deliver health services where clients/patients and healthcare providers are separated by a distance.

Executive summary

In the European Union/European Economic Area (EU/EEA) and countries in the eastern European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) area, hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis (TB) continue to circulate and cause substantial morbidity and mortality [9-12]. These diseases are the focus of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goal (SDGs) 3.3, which is to 'end the epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and neglected tropical diseases and combat hepatitis, water-borne diseases and other communicable diseases' by 2030 [13].

Injecting drug use remains an important risk factor for acquiring blood-borne and other infectious diseases in the EU/EEA and ENP area. Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs is important because these diseases reduce individuals' quality of life and life expectancy. Ultimately, they can lead to both indirect and direct societal costs through, for example, lost productivity, high treatment and care costs, and risk of onward transmission to others, including those who do not inject drugs [14].

This joint guidance by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) and the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) aims to support policy-makers and public health/social programme planners by providing an evidence base for developing national strategies, policies, and programmes for preventing and controlling infections and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. It also provides practice considerations and aims to inform the monitoring and evaluation of prevention and control strategies, policies, and programmes.

This guidance is an update to the 2011 guidance on the same topic [14], accounting for advances in harm reduction and infectious diseases prevention and control, the emergence of new public health concepts and interventions, and stakeholder needs. It provides an overview of the epidemiological situation of drug-related infectious diseases and identifies evidence-based interventions for preventing and controlling infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. The main infectious diseases covered are hepatitis B, hepatitis C, HIV, and TB. Other infections for which people who inject drugs may be at higher risk are also discussed in less detail, including respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza, skin and soft tissue infections, and sexually transmitted infections (STIs). While the guidance focuses primarily on people who inject opioids, the proposed interventions may also be relevant for people who inject other substances, such as cocaine, amphetamines, synthetic cathinones, and medicines, either separately or in combination (polydrug use).

Drawing on the most robust evidence available, alongside expert opinion and what is regarded as best practice according to existing international guidelines, several key intervention areas to prevent and control infectious diseases in this population are recommended. To provide maximum benefit, these interventions should be delivered in line with principles for prevention and service provision. These include implementing specific interventions in combination, to maximise coverage and effectiveness and in the context of other relevant health promotion activities that target structural and individual factors that promote healthier and/or safer behaviours.

Regarding people who inject drugs, the aim of health promotion should be to reduce the risk of individuals contracting and transmitting infectious diseases through injecting drug use and other means. At the structural level, WHO recommends that enabling interventions should, among other measures, involve removing punitive laws, policies, and practices such as the criminalisation of possession of needles and syringes which impacts on the ability of harm reduction programmes to operate needle and syringe programmes; reducing stigma and discrimination; promoting community empowerment; and addressing violence against people who inject drugs [15]. At the individual level, health promotion activities should be focused on moving towards safer injecting behaviour and reduced injection frequency, transition to non-injecting drug use, cessation of drug use if desired, and safer sexual behaviour, as well as infectious diseases prevention, testing, and treatment knowledge [14]. Condoms, together with health promotion information and referrals to primary care or sexual health services, should be provided based on client need in harm reduction settings, drug consumption rooms, through community outreach, including settings where drugs are used in the context of sex [16], and in prisons and pharmacies.

Key intervention areas and recommendations for preventing and controlling infectious diseases among people who inject drugs following critical review of the evidence by the expert panel

Provision of sterile injecting equipment:

• Provide sterile needles and syringes and other drug preparation equipment (cookers, filters and water for injection), including in prisons and through pharmacies.

Drug dependence treatment:

- Provide opioid agonist treatment (OAT), including in prisons;
- Provide sterile injecting equipment in combination with OAT;
- Offer information, education, counselling and skills training alongside OAT and needle and syringe programmes (NSPs), including in prisons.

Vaccination:

 Offer vaccinations against hepatitis A and B, respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza, and against tetanus to prevent infections and/or their complications in people who inject drugs; in addition, particularly for people living with HIV who inject drugs, offer the pneumococcal and the human papillomavirus vaccines.

Testing for infectious diseases:

- Routinely offer voluntary, confidential testing with informed consent and that is in line with relevant guidance for:
 - HCV and HIV to all people who inject drugs;
 - HBV to all people who inject drugs with no/incomplete vaccination;
 - STIs (e.g. syphilis, chlamydia, gonorrhoea) to all people who inject drugs with STI symptoms
 - and/or those with higher risk (e.g. multiple sexual partners, exchange of sex for money/drugs); - TB disease to all people who inject drugs with TB signs and symptoms, and/or those with higher
 - risk (e.g. have an exposure or predisposing underlying condition).
- All people with a positive test result should be linked to care.

Infectious disease treatment:

- Offer:
 - Antiviral treatment for those diagnosed with HBV and eligible for treatment;
 - Antiviral treatment for those diagnosed with HCV;
 - Antiretroviral treatment for those diagnosed with HIV;
 - Anti-TB treatment to those with TB disease;
 - TB preventive treatment for people with TB infection after ruling out TB disease;
 - Treatment for other infectious diseases such as STIs and bacterial skin infections as clinically indicated.
- Ensure that there is cooperation between service providers dedicated to people who inject drugs and infectious disease care to increase linkage to care, in particular for HCV.
- There is evidence that for HCV treatment at least, adherence can be strengthened through the involvement of peer mentors.

Drug consumption rooms providing supervised injecting facilities:

• Provide supervised injecting facilities in order to reduce injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs, which could as a consequence contribute to prevention of HCV and HIV transmission.

The interventions recommended in this report follow an expert panel's critical review of the evidence available for whether implementation of those interventions will lead to public health impact – in this case, a reduction in the incidence of new infections among people who inject drugs and the improved management of people with existing infections. However, the reality of implementation is inevitably more complex, as countries differ with regard to their existing policies, financial and human resource capacities, public health and healthcare system infrastructure, epidemiological contexts, as well as in respect to social, cultural, physical, behavioural, and ethical frameworks. It remains up to those implementing the guidance to decide which interventions and combination of interventions should be prioritised given the particular context within which they are to be applied.

As the epidemiology of both drug use and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs is subject to rapid changes, robust surveillance and continuous monitoring are essential and should be invested in. Ongoing research is also needed to fill gaps where evidence is of low quality and/or non-existent so as to provide the basis for strengthened recommendations in the future. Despite remaining gaps in evidence, there is sufficient evidence and examples of good practice upon which policy-makers and public health/social programme planners can develop national strategies, policies, and programmes for preventing and controlling infections and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. Implementation of the interventions recommended in this guidance within countries is expected to contribute towards the achievement of local, regional, national, and international infectious disease targets if undertaken at sufficient scale.

Introduction

Why it is important to prevent and control infectious diseases in people who inject drugs

In the European Union/European Economic Area (EU/EEA) and countries in the eastern European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) area, hepatitis B and C, HIV, and tuberculosis (TB) continue to circulate [9–12]. These diseases are the focus of the United Nations' (UN) Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 3.3, which is to 'end the epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and neglected tropical diseases and combat hepatitis, water-borne diseases and other communicable diseases' by 2030 [13]. They are also the focus of other globally-agreed elimination targets, including those of the World Health Organization (WHO)'s Global Health Sector Strategies on HIV, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and viral hepatitis [17–19] and the End TB Strategy [20].

Injecting drug use is a major contributor to the global burden of disease [21] and remains an important risk factor for acquiring blood-borne and other infectious diseases in the EU/EEA and ENP area (Box 1) [22]. For several infectious diseases, especially hepatitis C, the burden attributable to injecting drug use is very high and disproportionate compared with the relatively small size of the population of people who inject drugs [22]. Untreated HIV and viral hepatitis have also been shown to reduce the quality of life and life expectancy of those who are infected, including people who inject drugs [21]. From a public health perspective, a high burden of infections in this population can lead to both indirect and direct societal costs through, for example, lost productivity, high treatment and care costs, and the risk of onward transmission to others, including those who do not inject drugs [14].

Box 1. Infectious diseases for which people who inject drugs may be at increased risk

- Hepatitis A;
- Hepatitis B;
- Hepatitis C;
- Hepatitis D;
- HIV infection;
- Respiratory infections (e.g. COVID-19, influenza);
- Sexually transmitted infections, including chlamydia, gonorrhoea, human papillomavirus, and syphilis;
- Bacterial infections caused by streptococcus and staphylococcus species such as *Staphylococcus aureus* (including methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*, MRSA) and group A streptococci (GAS) (necrotising fasciitis, sepsis, endocarditis, bone and joint infections, thrombosis, and emboli); *Clostridium botulinum* (botulism); *Clostridium tetani* (tetanus); and *Bacillus anthracis* (anthrax);
- Tuberculosis.

The main mode of transmission of blood-borne viruses such as hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), and HIV among people who inject drugs is the sharing of contaminated injecting equipment, such as syringes, needles, drug mixing vessels, and other drug preparation paraphernalia [21]. HCV infection is of particular concern among people who inject drugs, normally exceeding HIV prevalence in this population [23]. This is thought to be because relatively high concentrations of HCV can be found in blood during both the primary infection phase and in those who become chronically infected, as well as because HCV can survive longer outside the body compared with HIV [24]. The higher transmission risk may also explain why HCV is more difficult to prevent and control through the application of single interventions, and why higher intervention coverage may be needed to reduce HCV incidence at the population level [25].

This document also provides guidance for the prevention and control of infections where injecting drug use is not the mode of transmission but where factors such as living conditions or higher-risk sexual practices place some people who inject drugs at greater risk. These infections include respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza; STIs such as chlamydia, gonorrhoea, human papillomavirus, and syphilis; and TB. Notably, HIV and viral hepatitis can also be transmitted through condomless sex, and people who inject drugs may also be at risk for associated infections through this route [26,27]. For HBV, this would apply to those not vaccinated, and for HCV the risk of transmission is mainly through male-to-male sex or for those co-infected with HIV [28]. In addition, men who have sex with men (MSM) who inject stimulants such as methamphetamine in the context of sex are more likely to engage in unsafe sexual practices, which puts them at risk for sexual transmission of HIV, HCV, HBV, and other STIs [29–31].

Prisons are an important setting for injection-related infection prevention and control as: (i) compared with the general public, people in prison in the EU/EEA have a higher burden of many infectious diseases, including bloodborne virus infections, STIs, and TB [32]; and (ii) there is evidence that drugs often continue to be used and injected in prison settings despite their strict prohibition [33,34]. Infectious diseases in the prison population pose a public health risk both for people living and working in prisons and for the general population, as most people in prison eventually return to the wider community. Notably, countries are obliged by a United Nations resolution to provide medical care to prisoners equivalent to that received by people in the community [35].

Infections among people who inject drugs are not yet effectively prevented and controlled in the EU/EEA and countries of the eastern ENP area. Advances in treatment for these infections combined with implementation of evidence-based interventions have the potential to reduce transmission and pave the way for countries to meet global elimination targets.

Guidance objectives, target audience and overview

This document is an update of the 2011 guidance on the same topic [14]. Its aims to support policy-makers and public health/social programme planners by providing the evidence base for developing national strategies, policies, and programmes for preventing and controlling infections and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. It also provides practice considerations and aims to inform the monitoring and evaluation of prevention and control strategies, policies and programmes.

The guidance gives a comprehensive overview of the intervention areas and interventions that should be considered the key components of a comprehensive approach to prevent and control infectious diseases in people who inject drugs, as well as details about how to implement them. It is based on the best current knowledge in the field and relies on a foundation of principles that guide disease prevention and service provision. The proposed interventions are primarily relevant to people who inject opioids but may also be relevant for people who inject other substances, such as cocaine, amphetamines, synthetic cathinones, and medicines, separately or in combination (polydrug use).

Background

Injecting drug use

While injecting drug use in general has declined over the past 10 years, it remains an important health challenge in many EU/EEA countries [36]. There are considerable differences between countries in terms of both the prevalence of injecting drug use and the substances that are injected. In some countries of the eastern ENP area, population prevalence of injecting drug use remains particularly high [37]. Of 15 EU countries that have recent estimates of population prevalence of injecting drug use, the estimates range from less than 1 in 1 000 population aged 15 to 64 years in, Belgium, Greece, Hungary, the Netherlands, and Spain, to more than 10 in 1 000 in Estonia [36].

While the use of heroin and other opioids remains relatively rare in Europe, these continue to be the drugs most commonly associated with the more harmful forms of use, including injecting [36]. In addition, stimulant injecting is becoming more common in some settings [38] and has been associated with high-frequency injecting patterns of use and blood-borne virus outbreaks [39–43].

Viral hepatitis

Hepatitis B and C infections are common among people who have previously or are currently injecting drugs, and a history of injecting drug use is the most frequently reported risk factor in EU/EEA countries among newly diagnosed acute and chronic HCV infections [44].

There has been a declining trend in the number of acute cases of HBV among people who inject drugs, which is consistent with the trends in the general population and likely related to the widespread implementation of national hepatitis B vaccination programmes [45]. No EU/EEA country has seen a significant reduction in the transmission of HCV among people who inject drugs since 2015 in the available data on trends in the prevalence of HCV among people aged under 25 years who inject drugs and among people who have recently started injecting (the prevalence in these groups reflects relatively recent transmission and may be considered a proxy for incidence) [46].

The results from prevalence studies among people who inject drugs reported to EMCDDA by EU countries, Norway, and Türkiye have found a very high prevalence of HCV antibodies and current HCV infections, with the prevalence of current infection based on HCV RNA being over 50% in four of the six countries with recent data, and little evidence of declining trends [46]. The prevalence of HBV infection among people who inject drugs is lower than HCV infection, but it is considerably higher than the prevalence among the general population.

Data on the continuum of care for hepatitis B and C among people who inject drugs in EU/EEA countries are scarce, as treatment registries are uncommon and data on the likely route of transmission of infection are often not reported [47]. Data reported to EMCDDA from Czechia, the one country able to provide estimates for all steps along the hepatitis C continuum for a sample of people who inject drugs accessing low-threshold services, indicate that the proportion of individuals diagnosed was low and there was a high proportion of diagnosed individuals not receiving treatment [47]. These findings are consistent with data across the wider population reported to ECDC from EU/EEA countries, which indicate that the overall undiagnosed proportion is large and many diagnosed people are not linked to care and treated [48]. While it is now widely recommended that all people living with HCV receive antiviral treatment irrespective of their degree of fibrosis, there are ongoing restrictions on HCV treatment in some EU/EEA countries, including restrictions on access for those actively using drugs or not enrolled in opioid substitution therapy (OST) [49]. The European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) issued a policy statement in 2020 recommending that all barriers to the uptake of the continuum of care by people who inject drugs be removed in order to achieve the 2030 WHO viral hepatitis elimination goals [50].

Hepatitis D is caused by infection with the hepatitis delta virus (HDV). Infection with HDV is dependent on the same person also being infected with HBV, which means that the HDV infection can either be acquired at the same time as the HBV infection or later [51]. The prevalence of HDV among people infected with HBV in the WHO European Region has been estimated to be 3% [52]. Compared to people infected only with HBV, people infected with HDV are at higher risk of progression to cirrhosis and of developing hepatocellular carcinoma [53].

Hepatitis A is an acute, usually self-limiting infection caused by the hepatitis A virus (HAV). Transmission mostly occurs through contaminated water or food products and/or by person-to-person contact, but transmission through the sharing of needles and syringes among people who inject drugs and sexual transmission among men who have sex with men is also known to occur [54]. Clusters and outbreaks of hepatitis A in people who inject drugs have been reported in the EU [5457], while large HAV outbreaks among people who use drugs (injection and non-injection) and/or people who are homeless have been reported in the United States [58].

HIV infection

Robust national estimates of HIV prevalence rates among people who inject drugs are lacking for most countries. However, data from sero-prevalence studies, while not necessarily representative at the national level, can be regarded as indicative of the overall situation and typically show that HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs is significantly higher than that found in the general population. Recent estimates range from 0.7% in Germany (Bavaria region, 2022) to 54.3% in Estonia (city of Kohtla-Jarve, 2020), although in two countries recent studies did not detect any sero-prevalent cases. The national situation appears very heterogenous, making generalisation difficult, but the median estimate of HIV prevalence from the national studies available is around 3% and the mean around 14%. Although the data are even more limited in studies of people who inject drugs with overlapping risk factors, such as engaging in sex work or men having sex with men, relatively higher prevalence rates have been reported [59]. Furthermore, local HIV outbreaks, mostly associated with the injecting of cocaine and synthetic cathinones have been reported in Cologne, Germany; Luxembourg; Dublin, Ireland; and Glasgow, the United Kingdom (UK) [36,47,60]. Ongoing HIV transmission following a large outbreak among people who inject drugs in Athens, Greece, has also been documented between 2014 to 2020 [61].

For countries reporting higher prevalence, this usually reflects a long-established problem. Overall, 4.8% of new HIV cases with known transmission mode in 2021 were attributable to injecting drug use. The number of new HIV diagnoses associated with drug-injecting between 2011 and 2020 has declined steadily, with 571 new diagnosed cases in the EU/EEA in 2020 [9]. This represents a decrease of 51% from 2011 when comparing data from countries with consistent reporting over this period [9]. However, in 2020 in the EU/EEA, 52% of all people diagnosed with HIV where the transmission mode was attributed to injecting drug use were diagnosed late (CD4 cell count less than 350 cells/mm³ at diagnosis). Late diagnosis is associated with a higher risk of HIV-associated morbidity and mortality [9] and indicates a need to invest more in early detection and improve access to treatment.

There are limited data available on the continuum of care among people who inject drugs living with HIV in the WHO European Region [62]. Among the 13 countries with available data across the four steps of the continuum, France and Spain have met or exceeded the overall global target of having 73% of all people living with HIV virally suppressed among people who inject drugs. Of the other 11 countries, four are within 10% of meeting the target (Austria, Georgia, Italy, and the UK) and seven are more than 10% away from reaching the target (Czechia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Luxembourg, Poland, Romania, and Ukraine) in 2020.

Skin and soft tissue infections

Skin and soft tissue infections in people who inject drugs can be caused by numerous types of bacteria that are present in the environment or present on the users' own skin or other parts of the body and can contaminate drugs or drug-injecting equipment [47,63,64]. These can also be introduced during the injection process if the injection site is not cleaned. The most common bacterial infections among people who inject drugs are caused by streptococcus and staphylococcus species such as *Staphylococcus aureus* (including methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, MRSA) and group A streptococci (GAS). These pathogens can cause infections at the site of injection as well as systemic and life-threatening complications such as necrotising fasciitis, sepsis, endocarditis, bone and joint infections, thrombosis, and emboli [47,64,65]. Less common are infections with spore-forming bacteria found in the environment, such as *Clostridium botulinum* (botulism), *Clostridium tetani* (tetanus), and *Bacillus anthracis* (anthrax). These can also contaminate illicit drugs and lead to severe illness and death [66–68]. Clusters and outbreaks of wound botulism, tetanus, and other spore-forming bacterial infections have been reported in people who inject drugs, particularly in three countries: Ireland, Norway, and the UK [68–70].

Other infections affecting people who inject drugs

The prevalence of TB infection has been found to be high among people who use drugs, and people who inject drugs are at increased risk of active TB disease [7,71,72]. The combination of social risk factors such as poor living conditions, homelessness, incarceration, poverty, malnutrition, tobacco use, and problematic alcohol use can place people who inject drugs at higher risk for becoming infected with TB and/or developing TB disease, and at an increased risk of mortality [71–74]. One of the most significant risk factors for the development of TB and a major reason for the high prevalence of TB among people who inject drugs is HIV-induced immunosuppression [75,76]. TB and HIV coinfection is known to be a problem in the EU/EEA, and people acquiring HIV through injecting drug use have been shown to have had higher odds of TB as an AIDS-defining illness [77]. Furthermore, studies have shown that people who are actively injecting drugs have lower rates of adherence to TB treatment compared to other populations who do not use drugs [78].

Other infections for which people who inject drugs are particularly vulnerable include respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza. These infections may be more common because of social conditions and more severe because of underlying health conditions [79,80].

The epidemiology of STIs among people who inject drugs is not well documented, but drug use, including that in the context of higher-risk sexual practices, may place some people who inject drugs at greater risk of these infections. This includes exchanging sex for money or drugs, impaired judgment in negotiating safer sex, and difficulties accessing sexual health services [81]. The practice of using drugs in the context of sex has been reported in particular by some MSM and linked to the acquisition of STIs, including hepatitis C [29] [30] [82].

Principles for prevention and service provision

This guidance proposes a holistic approach that is grounded in a collection of principles for prevention and service provision (Figure 1). These principles – which encompass the delivery of interventions in combination with broader health promotion activities and with each other and in combination – should be seen as the foundation of effective implementation of the recommendations within the key areas of intervention.

Figure 1. Principles for prevention and service provision among people who inject drugs



Health promotion is the 'process of enabling people to increase control over their health and its determinants and thereby improve their health' [6]. It overlaps with the various stages of prevention, and acknowledges that improvement in health requires that conditions are favourable for such to occur [6]. Health promotion is therefore a fundamental companion component for the delivery of the other interventions outlined in this guidance.

With respect to people who inject drugs, the key aim of health promotion should be to reduce the risk for individuals of contracting and transmitting infectious diseases through injecting drug use and other means by addressing both structural and individual factors that contribute to environments that promote healthier and/or safer behaviours that impact the various transmission routes.

Structural factors refer to policies, norms, infrastructure, etc. that influence individual behaviours and access to services, and are thus underlying determinants of heath. People who inject drugs can experience inequities in their access to services because of, for example, gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, level of education, income, homelessness, migration or residential status and geographical location. At the structural level, WHO recommends removing punitive laws, policies and practices, such as criminalisation of possession of needles and syringes; reducing stigma and discrimination; promoting community empowerment; and addressing violence against people who inject drugs [15]. This means that in some countries, a review of national, regional and/or local laws, policies, and practices are needed to address any potential barriers they may create to the prevention, treatment, and care of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. Addressing stigma and ensuring meaningful engagement of people who inject drugs in how services are provided is also needed to ensure the acceptability and relevance of services for this population.

Individual factors such as behaviours, health literacy, and infectious disease knowledge also impact the risk of contracting and of transmission of infectious diseases. At the individual level, health promotion activities should be focused on moving towards safer injecting behaviour and reduced injection frequency, transition to non-injecting drug use, cessation of drug use if desired, and safer sexual behaviour, as well as infectious diseases prevention, testing and treatment knowledge [14]. Condoms together with health promotion information and referrals to primary care or sexual health services should be provided based on client need in harm reduction settings, drug consumption rooms, community outreach, including settings where drugs are used in the context of sex [16], and

in prisons and pharmacies. Meanwhile, information, education, counselling, and skills training (IECS) should be delivered by trained individuals and provided at every appropriate opportunity. And while interventions are best delivered in combination, IECS interventions can be provided as stand-alone interventions where there are barriers to accessing other harm reduction interventions. Clients receiving injecting equipment should be provided with risk reduction information, including: the importance of washing hands with soap and water prior to injecting, the correct use of each item of equipment, the risks of sharing equipment, and how to safely dispose of needles/syringes and other equipment after injecting. Information about vaccination, early symptoms, testing and treatment of drug-related infections, including early signs of skin and soft tissue infections and the importance of seeking early medical care should also be provided. Peer-delivered IECS interventions can facilitate access to people who inject drugs and can also be a means to refer these individuals to other services. In all cases, messages should be adapted according to various factors, including needs, concerns, expectations and literacy level of the target audience, as well as any personal conditions such as mental health issues and vision or hearing impairments, local context, gender and culture, and languages.

Combined provision of interventions refers to interventions that are delivered together to achieve synergistic effects. Offering a menu of interventions that can be used in combination is important, as studies and experience from successful prevention programmes document the added value of offering a range of effective measures in the same venues, and of providing a combination of interventions targeted according to clients' needs [83]. Further to this, the WHO recommends a comprehensive package of interventions for the prevention, treatment and care of HIV, viral hepatitis and STIs among people who inject drugs [15].

Some of the effects of the provision of combined services may be direct, while some may be indirect through attracting and attaching clients to services, improving service reach and coverage accordingly. For maximum effectiveness, interventions should be applied through national and local cooperation and coordinated between sectors as far as possible. To ensure that prevention resources are spent effectively, infectious disease prevention efforts should be targeted to people who inject drugs where the risk of transmission is greatest.

What is new in this update of the guidance

All areas of the guidance have been updated to incorporate new developments in the field since 2011. While the main intervention areas are replicated, the intervention areas of health promotion and targeted delivery of services have been updated and incorporated into the section on 'Principles for prevention and service provision'. Health promotion was broadened to also address structural issues such as enabling environments while targeted delivery of services was merged into Figure 1 and the paragraph on combined provision of interventions.

Updates in the other intervention areas are as follows:

- Provision of sterile injecting equipment: Recommendations are based on an updated evidence review conducted in 2020, which also includes a review of the effects of low dead space syringes (LDSS) in preventing transmission of HCV and HIV.
- Drug dependence treatment: Recommendations are based on an updated evidence review conducted in 2020, comprising medical (including pharmacological), psychological, social, and behavioural approaches to address problems associated with drug dependence. These include agonist treatment for opioid dependence, pharmacological treatment for stimulant dependence, psychosocial interventions involving information, education, counselling, and or skills training (IECS), psychosocial interventions involving contingency management, and technology-based psychosocial interventions in the community and in prisons.
- Vaccination: COVID-19 vaccination is addressed, and recommendations for human papillomavirus (HPV) have been included.
- Testing for infectious diseases: Recommendations are primarily based on a desk review of the latest published guidance from ECDC and guidelines from WHO.
- Infectious disease treatment: Treatment recommendations are primarily based on a desk review of the latest published international and European guidance. Linkage to care and adherence to treatment recommendations are based on a new systematic review.
- Drug consumption rooms providing supervised injecting facilities: Drug consumption rooms are included as a distinct intervention area and the topic was included in the updated evidence review.

Finally, the structure of the document has been changed to align it with the revised format used for ECDC guidance. Text transferred from the 2011 guidance has been edited to keep the guidance succinct.

Guidance development

A stakeholder survey of individuals from public health and drug services sectors was carried out in 2018 to assess whether the guidance published in 2011 required updating to include emerging evidence and practice considerations. In response to this survey, a multidisciplinary expert panel of 21 people from a range of disciplines including public health policy, drug policy, infectious diseases, mental health, civil society, advocacy, community of people who inject drugs, and harm reduction and drug treatment service providers, was established by ECDC and EMCDDA to inform the updating of the joint guidance and five separate pieces of work were undertaken, four of which inform the content of this guidance (See Annex A and accompanying technical reports [14] for details on the establishment of the expert panel and the evidence reviews). These include:

- 1. An updated review commissioned by EMCDDA to identify and synthesise the evidence, published since the 2011 guidance, on the effectiveness of: (i) drug treatment for both opioid and stimulant dependence; (ii) needle and syringe programmes (NSPs); and (iii) drug consumption rooms (DCRs) in the prevention of injecting risk behaviour, HCV transmission, and HIV transmission among people who inject drugs [1].
- A literature review commissioned by EMCDDA to identify and synthesise evidence from mathematical modelling studies published up to and including 2020 on the population-level impact of: (i) opioid agonist treatment (OAT); (ii) NSPs; and (iii) the combination of OAT and NSPs with and without direct-acting antiviral (DAA) treatment for HCV in the prevention of HCV transmission among people who inject drugs [2].
- 3. A systematic review commissioned by ECDC to identify and synthesise evidence to determine which interventions can increase linkage to care and which can increase adherence to treatment for HBV, HCV, HIV, and TB among people who inject drugs [3,4].
- A desk review was conducted by ECDC to identify the latest evidence-based guidelines and recommendations from international organisations or clinical societies regarding infectious diseases vaccination, testing, and treatment.

Evidence arising via the reviews (1, 2, 3) was critically appraised, formulated into evidence statements, and – except for the literature review looking at mathematical modelling studies (2) – transferred into Evidence to Summary and Evidence to Decision tables. Expert panel members were tasked with critically reviewing the evidence within the Evidence Summary and Evidence to Decision tables and submitting feedback on these. At two expert panels meetings (March and June 2021), the Expert Panel provided their assessment on the benefits, acceptability and transferability of the interventions, and suggested practice considerations. They also further supported the translation of research findings into recommendations for public health practice.

Each 'recommendation' is informed by an assessment of the evidence and expert opinion on the intervention's relevance, acceptability, wider benefits, and any potential harms. Where the panel felt the evidence available was currently insufficient to fully endorse the intervention but was sufficiently favourable for the intervention to be considered, any related recommendation was classified as a 'Conditional recommendation'.

Meanwhile, recommendations arising through the desk review (4) were derived from those already published within international guidelines and evidence-based practice.

The fifth piece of work, a collection of models of good practice [5] commissioned by ECDC, was also undertaken to accompany the guidance.

Intervention areas

The areas of intervention that should be considered as key components of a comprehensive approach to prevent and control infectious diseases in people who inject drugs are detailed in the following sub-sections. Each intervention area is accompanied by one or more recommendations, justification for these, and practice considerations. The full set of evidence underlying the recommendations as well as the judgments made in the process of going from evidence to recommendation can be found in the accompanying technical documents [14].

Intervention area 1: Provision of sterile injecting equipment

Injecting equipment refers to items used to prepare and/or inject drugs, such as syringes, needles, cookers, filters, and water. Sterile injecting equipment can be provided via a range of settings and modes of delivery. The latter include fixed harm reduction sites, peer outreach, and through pharmacies and in prisons.

Recommendations

- Provide sterile needles and syringes, including in prisons;
- Provide sterile needles and syringes through pharmacies in addition to traditional needle and syringe programmes;
- Provide sterile drug preparation equipment (cookers, filters and water for injection).

Evidence and justification

There is sufficient evidence of a benefit of needle/syringe provision with regard to preventing injecting risk behaviour and HIV transmission, and tentative evidence that it is effective in reducing HCV transmission. While there is a lack of evidence on the effectiveness of providing sterile drug preparation equipment in reducing the incidence of HCV and HIV, there is sufficient evidence that it reduces the sharing of these items of equipment. The provision of sterile needles/syringes and drug preparation equipment may prevent skin, soft tissue and other infections among people who inject drugs. There are also other benefits that arise from the engagement with services that results when people who inject drugs seek out NSPs – such as the opportunity to provide them with risk reduction advice, or to refer them to other services.

There is insufficient evidence to draw strong conclusions about the benefit of NSPs in prisons regarding preventing HCV, HIV or injecting risk behaviour. Rigorous evaluation of this intervention is hampered by the sensitivity of the intervention, structural barriers such as acceptability among prison staff and access of researchers to prisons, and few places where it has been implemented to date. The panel concluded that the principle of equivalence of care [84,85] – i.e. that incarcerated people are entitled to the same standard of care as people in the community – should apply, and therefore was in favour of recommending in-prison NSPs.

There is insufficient evidence to say conclusively whether there is a benefit of pharmacy-based NSPs with regard to preventing HCV or HIV; however, there is evidence of a moderate effect of pharmacy-based NSPs compared to no NSPs on reducing injecting risk behaviour. There is also evidence to show that pharmacy-based NSPs are at least equivalent to other types of NSPs in terms of reducing injecting risk behaviour. Furthermore, using existing healthcare infrastructure such as pharmacies may be a cost-effective way of expanding access to sterile injecting equipment, especially in countries where dedicated harm reduction services are geographically limited.

There is insufficient evidence to say conclusively whether there is a benefit of providing LDSS with regard to HCV or HIV prevention. However, some cost-effectiveness studies have suggested that, under certain circumstances, these syringes may have benefits [86]. In 2012, WHO indicated that it may be beneficial to encourage the use of LDSS citing evidence that the provision of LDSS leads to a reduction in the transmission of HIV and HCV [87].

There is evidence from mathematical modelling studies to suggest that there are potentially large reductions in HCV incidence, and tentative evidence of a reasonably large reduction in injecting risk behaviour, associated with the provision of combined OAT and NSPs. OAT and NSPs do not necessarily have to be integrated, but people who inject drugs need access to both. If interventions provided in combination are effective for HCV, they are likely also to be effective for HIV prevention among people who inject drugs.

It can be assumed that the public health impact in preventing HCV and HIV transmission of any needle/syringe programme is likely to be influenced by the accessibility and reach of the service. Reflecting this, it is generally accepted that it is important to maximise the accessibility, reach, and coverage of NSPs through whichever mix of settings or modes are appropriate to the local injecting population.

Practice considerations

- Provision of sterile needles/syringes and other drug preparation equipment should be free of charge to people who inject drugs.
- In addition to needles/syringes, cookers, filters and water ampoules, services should provide a minimum set of essential equipment that includes acidifiers, alcohol/disinfectant swabs and dry swabs, foil, sharps bins and naloxone (for overdose prevention and management) [88]. See Box 2.
- User preferences for syringe types and needle sizes should be carefully considered to maximise service uptake.
- For clients who express a need or preference for detachable syringes, low dead space detachable syringes should be provided.
- Services providers should consider transitioning to LDSS instead of high dead space syringes (HDSS) even though there may be a higher cost attached to procurement of LDSS and they may be more difficult to procure.
- While some settings require the return of used needles and syringes in order to be given new ones, this policy can be counterproductive and act as a barrier to accessing and using sterile injecting equipment.
- To encourage safe transportation and disposal of injecting equipment, puncture-proof containers to collect and return injecting equipment should be made available. Other strategies such as community-based safe disposal sites or home collection have also been successfully used in some settings.
- The provision of non-injecting equipment, such as foil for smoking drugs may attract clients to services and encourage transition away from injecting.
- If it is not possible to prevent completely the re-use and sharing of needles and syringes, syringe identifiers could be offered to clients. These are syringes that come with numbers, colour codes, stickers, or some other system of anonymous identification to minimise inadvertent sharing of syringes.
- In addition to traditional fixed-site NSPs, alternative settings/modes include prisons, pharmacies, vending
 machines or outreach, peer, mobile or postal distribution. The exact mix of settings and modes of
 distribution should be determined by local context and user preferences.
- Negative attitudes around injecting drug use could contribute to stigma and deter people from accessing the service. While staff training is important in all types of services, it may be particularly crucial in settings such as prison and pharmacy where staff may not have as much experience working with people who inject drugs as compared to dedicated services [89].

Box 2. Basic set of essential harm reduction equipment for people who inject drugs

Recent technical guidelines have proposed a set of harm reduction equipment items that were considered essential by harm reduction experts [88]. These items are listed below, along with the purpose of each item and its potential benefits. What is provided to each client needs to be based on their specific needs.

- Sterile needles and syringes, including low dead space syringes
- **Cookers:** Cookers or spoons (also sometimes referred to by the brand name, e.g. Stéricups[®]) are used to heat and dissolve drugs such as heroin prior to injecting, or to mix crushed tablets with water. Use of a new, sterile cooker for each injection may reduce the risk of blood-borne virus and bacterial infections.
- **Filters:** Dissolved drugs are drawn into the syringe through a filter to prevent large particles from entering the bloodstream. Using a filter when injecting into the vein is important as it can prevent blood clots or emboli; however, filters tend to be re-used because they are thought to contain residual drugs. Use of a new, sterile filter for each injection may reduce the risk of blood-borne virus and bacterial infections. Different types of filters are available and user preference should be taken into account.
- **Water:** Water is used to dissolve drugs prior to injecting and to rinse and flush the needle and syringe after injecting. Users may share a common source of water for this purpose, which potentially puts them at risk of transmitting blood-borne viruses, and the use of non-sterile water (tap water, for example) poses a risk of skin and soft tissue infections. Use of a new, sterile water ampoule for each injection may reduce the risk of blood-borne virus and bacterial infections.
- Acidifiers: Acidifiers are used to make insoluble drugs, such as brown heroin, soluble. The use of household products as acidifiers (e.g. lemon juice, vinegar) can lead to vein damage and infections. Infections may be avoided if single-use sachets of acidifiers, such as ascorbic or citric acid, are provided to people who inject insoluble drugs.
- **Alcohol swabs and dry swabs:** Alcohol or disinfectant swabs/wipes should be used to clean the injection site before injecting. Clean dry swabs can be used after the injection to stop the bleeding, as alcohol pads will prolong the bleeding time. Alcohol swabs may reduce the risk of bacterial infection.
- **Foil**: Foil may be used to inhale or smoke drugs. Commercially available foil for household use has usually been coated with oils or non-stick coatings and is unsafe to use for smoking drugs. Untreated foil should be provided; provision of non-injecting drug equipment such as foil may attract clients to the service and may also encourage route transition away from injecting drug use. Smoking, instead of injecting, drugs may reduce the risk of blood-borne virus transmission and overdose.
- Sharps bins: Sharps bins are containers for the safe disposal of equipment after injecting.

In addition to the above equipment, **naloxone** is an effective medicinal product used to reverse opioid overdoses and as such, is an important component of a comprehensive harm reduction response.

Intervention area 2: Drug dependence treatment

Drug dependence treatment represents an important component in a comprehensive response to prevent healthrelated harm associated with drug dependence. Drug treatment encompasses a range of medical (including pharmacological), psychological, social and behavioural strategies to stop or reduce drug use and injecting and can be delivered in outpatient or in residential settings.

The main pharmacological treatment approach, opioid agonist treatment (OAT), involves using opioid agonists. These are prescription medicines [90] that bind to and activate opioid receptors. They prevent withdrawal symptoms and reduce cravings, therefore allowing for reduced use of illicit opioids and injecting risk behaviour. Furthermore, they reduce overdose risk and other injecting related risks, improve health, quality of life and social reintegration and enable the individual to lead a more stable life. OAT is often provided in combination with psychosocial treatment and further support services. The most widely used OAT medicines are methadone and buprenorphine (a partial agonist) [91]. Meanwhile, to treat long-term refractory heroin-dependent people who have not responded to standard treatments, such as OAT, injectable heroin-assisted treatment (HAT) – the prescription of diamorphine (medical-grade heroin) may be considered [92].

Recommendations

- Provide OAT for preventing HCV (primary infection and reinfection), HIV and injecting risk behaviour, and for reducing injecting frequency among people who inject opioids.
- Provide OAT in the prison setting for preventing injecting risk behaviour and for reducing injecting frequency among people who inject opioids, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention.
- Provide sterile injection equipment in combination with OAT to maximise the coverage and effectiveness of these interventions among people who inject opioids.

• Promote safer injecting behaviour and reduced injection frequency via, for example, IECS alongside OAT and NSPs, including in prisons.

In addition to the above, the expert panel was in favour of the following conditional recommendation: providing HAT for reducing opioid use in specific patient groups, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention.

While the evidence base on what constitutes effective treatment of problematic use of stimulants is relatively weak the panel considered that the following interventions merited a conditional recommendation as they could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention: using contingency management to reduce drug use and increase retention in drug treatment; providing pharmacological treatment for reducing stimulant use in specific patient groups; and using technology-based approaches to deliver psychosocial interventions to address challenges in delivering timely in-person services and historically underserved populations.

Evidence and justification

There is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that OAT is effective in reducing HCV transmission, HIV transmission and injecting risk behaviour/injection frequency. OAT (methadone/buprenorphine) is already a widely used frontline treatment for opioid dependence.

There is insufficient evidence from studies of OAT delivered in prison and its impact on blood-borne virus transmission because of a scarcity of studies in the prison context. However, evidence is sufficient in respect to effectiveness of OAT in reducing sharing of injecting equipment and injecting drug use. The lack of evidence regarding HCV and HIV probably reflects the challenge in evaluating in-prison OAT, which includes the need for large sample sizes to detect statistical differences in blood-borne virus incidence between intervention and control groups. However, based on the principle of equivalence of care between prison and the community, OAT can be recommended regardless of the scarcity of direct evidence on HCV and HIV transmission. Providing OAT in the prison setting may also have other benefits, such as a reduction in drug-related deaths, and promoting continuity of treatment between prison and the community.

In addition to empirical evidence, mathematical modelling studies suggest that there are potentially large reductions in HCV incidence, and tentative evidence of a reasonably large reduction in injecting risk behaviour, associated with the provision of combined OAT and NSPs.

Evidence of the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions involving IECS for preventing HCV or HIV among people who inject drugs, including in prison settings, is generally limited. For example, evidence on the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions involving IECS in reducing injecting risk behaviour and injection frequency comes from a combination of studies of interventions that differed in content, were delivered differently in various settings, had different frequency or intensity of interventions, and had varying control conditions. However, a systematic review found that 'psychosocial interventions could boost the impact of current harm reduction interventions delivered as routine care and could be included with other harm reduction approaches, including OST and needle and syringe exchange' [93].

The expert panel acknowledged that psychosocial interventions are one of the most widespread harm reduction interventions, are easy to implement and can be used in a wide variety of settings, including in prisons. Of psychosocial interventions, peer-delivered interventions were thought to be particularly effective by the expert panel.

While there is an absence of evidence for the effectiveness of HAT in relation to prevention of HCV, HIV or injecting risk behaviour, there is strong evidence that it reduces 'street' heroin use [92]. This may lead to reductions in blood-borne viruses.

Most studies of pharmacological treatment for stimulant dependence have focused on drug use (not necessarily injecting) outcomes, and while no treatments have been found to be consistently efficacious in reducing drug use, there are promising results for certain prescription medicines when applied to specific patient sub-populations [16].

There is no direct evidence that contingency management – a behavioural management technique that involves using incentives such as cash, vouchers, prizes, or other kinds of privileges to reinforce behaviours or disincentives to discourage them – has an impact on HCV or HIV transmission, and insufficient evidence on this regarding injecting risk behaviour. This lack of direct evidence is in large part because it is difficult to assess the benefit from this intervention given the evidence combines studies of interventions that targeted different behaviours (for example, abstinence from different drugs or use of different drugs), involved different rewards, and were delivered alone or in combination with varying pharmacological treatments. The benefit may be dependent on all of these factors. There may be benefits of contingency management with regard to retention in drug treatment (OAT), as well as vaccination adherence and completion however these outcomes were outside the scope of this update. The cost of contingency management interventions needs to be weighed against any potential benefit.

With regard to technology-based psychosocial interventions, while one robust study showed a positive impact of a psychosocial intervention on reducing injecting risk behaviour [94], there was insufficient evidence overall to either

support or discount the effectiveness of technology-based psychosocial interventions in the prevention of HCV or HIV transmission among PWID or prevention of injecting risk behaviour. Technology-based psychosocial interventions warrant further consideration and evaluation aimed at improving access for people who inject drugs in remote or rural areas and among those who prefer virtual, as opposed to face-to-face, contact. Such interventions may be more cost-effective than face-to-face interventions and may also be beneficial in situations when face-to-face contact is not possible. However, people who inject drugs often have very limited access to technology and may have low technological literacy, so technology-based interventions need to be implemented with care in this population.

Practice considerations

- Anyone who is clinically assessed as dependent on opioids should be considered for OAT, regardless of whether or not they also use other substances.
- OAT should be provided at sufficient dose and individuals should be maintained on continuous treatment. Evidence indicates that, following individual clinical assessment, flexible dosing structures should be encouraged without restriction on dosage and duration of treatment [95,96]. To optimise effectiveness, recent WHO guidance suggests that OAT is more effective as maintenance treatment than as medically-assisted detoxification [97], with mathematical modelling evidence also showing that retention on OAT is critical for reducing drug related mortality (including HCV- and HIV-related mortality) [98,99]. OAT can be dispensed in a multitude of settings including general practice, specialised centres in the community, pharmacies, outreach/mobile clinics and in prison. A good link between prison and community-based programmes is important to facilitate continuity of treatment (upon incarceration or after release) so that longer-term benefits can be achieved and harms such as blood-borne virus acquisition and fatal overdoses in the period immediately after release can be prevented.
- In all settings, the direct observation of the patient taking the medications can prevent diversion of drugs to the illicit market. However, take-home doses can be made available for stable patients, which can reduce the burden of daily visits [100].
- OAT may also help to prevent skin abscesses due to the impact on reduced injecting risk behaviour.
- Low-threshold programmes/services, i.e. those that remove barriers to care that are typically encountered in traditional healthcare systems, are more accessible to people who inject drugs.
- Opioid antagonist treatment, specifically naltrexone, which blocks the effects of heroin and other opioids, may be useful for some patients in preventing relapse [101]. It should be emphasised that it is not an alternative to OAT and there is no evidence that naltrexone contributes to preventing blood-borne viruses or injecting risk behaviour [91].
- Supervised injectable HAT could be considered for people who have not responded to standard treatments
 where this approach is possible. Such treatment requires structurally adapted services to respect strict safety
 conditions and prevent any diversion to the illicit market. Clinics have to be open several sessions per day,
 every day of the year, in order to allow clients to inject their treatment under supervision as indicated in
 treatment guidelines [92].
- Technology-based interventions may be part of an evolving drug treatment approach to delivering psychosocial interventions, which have the potential to increase reach to people who inject drugs in remote or rural areas, or those who prefer participating virtually instead of face-to-face [102]. However, people who inject drugs often have very limited access to technology and may have low technological literacy, so technology-based interventions need to be implemented with care in this population.

Key findings from a review of mathematical modelling studies of combined provision of NSPs and OAT for preventing HCV transmission

As mentioned in the guidance development section, a literature search was undertaken to identify mathematical modelling studies to examine the population-level impact of NSPs and OAT, individually and in combination, on HCV transmission among people who inject drugs. The evidence from this search indicates there are estimated positive effects of combining OAT and NSPs. See also the accompanying technical report for full details [2].

Mathematical modelling can estimate the level of intervention coverage scale-up required to achieve a desired reduction in HCV transmission at the population level. This has rarely been considered through epidemiological studies. To achieve HCV incidence decreases of a least 40% after 10 years, sustained increases in OAT and NSP coverage is required regardless of the baseline coverage of these interventions. Countries starting with low levels of baseline OAT and NSP coverage will require larger absolute increases.

Table 1 presents target coverage levels of OAT and NSPs depending on a country's current, i.e. baseline, coverage (A). Target levels of coverage (B) are those that need to be sustained in order to achieve HCV incidence decrease of at least 40% after 10 years. While the expert panel felt that targets were important for countries to understand the impact of their investment, as well as a tool for advocacy and to improve accountability, it was acknowledged that there is a spectrum of different baseline coverage levels of these interventions across Europe, and that the target may depend on a country's starting point. Details of how these targets were calculated can be found in the technical report [2]. Other models have also shown that in order to reduce chronic HCV and subsequently reduce HCV incidence requires scaling of HCV treatment; and that the combination of HCV treatment and OAT and NSP will minimise re-infection and reduce chronic HCV prevalence and incidence in people who inject drugs [103-105].

 Table 1. Recommended target coverage of both OAT and NSPs to achieve a 40% reduction in HCV transmission after 10 years based on current, i.e. baseline, coverage levels

Baseline coverage (A)	Target coverage (B)
10%	46%
20%	50%
30%	58%
40%	64%
50%	70%
60%	76%
70%	82%
80%	88%
90%	94%

Intervention area 3: Vaccination

Recommendation

• Offer vaccinations against hepatitis A and B, respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza, and against tetanus to prevent infections and/or their complications in people who inject drugs; in addition, particularly for people living with HIV who inject drugs, offer the pneumococcal and the human papillomavirus vaccines.

Evidence and justification

Vaccination against infectious diseases continues to be among the most effective prevention interventions available [106]. In most settings, people who inject drugs are at a greatly increased risk of acquiring hepatitis A, hepatitis B and tetanus, all of which are infections preventable through vaccination. People who inject drugs are at higher risk of adverse outcomes from COVID-19 and influenza because of poor living conditions, lower access to healthcare, and impaired immunity because of co-infections and underlying medical conditions [80]. When HIV co-infected, there is a higher risk of pneumonia from pneumococcal infection, and also, if infected with human papillomavirus (HPV) as well, cervical or anal cancer [107,108]. Effective vaccines are available which can prevent each of these infections [109,110].

Practice considerations

 National and international vaccination guidelines should be applied to people who inject drugs unless otherwise indicated [87,111,112].

- Hepatitis A vaccination (or combined hepatitis A and B vaccination) should be offered to protect against hepatitis A infection and is particularly important for those who have chronic hepatitis B or C infection and/or HIV infection [113,114]. People chronically infected with hepatitis C (for which no vaccine currently exists), hepatitis B, or HIV are at higher risk of severe disease from HAV infection. Those who become co-infected with hepatitis B and C may suffer from accelerated liver disease progression and have an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma [115,117].
- Hepatitis B vaccination campaigns that target people who inject drugs have been shown to be cost effective and even cost-saving [118].
- While testing for hepatitis B serum markers at the first service contact can aid the targeting of vaccination to only those who would benefit from the vaccine, it may result in the delayed start of a vaccination course, which may not always be considered appropriate [32,119].
- Accelerated hepatitis B vaccination schedules provide rapid protection and can increase the proportion of people who inject drugs who complete three doses of the vaccine [120,122]. However, there is some evidence that immunity after three doses given as an accelerated schedule may not be as good long-term compared to the normal schedule [123] and that the immune response to the accelerated schedule may be reduced in people who inject drugs because of, for example, underlying illnesses [87,120,124,125]. Evidence suggests that with the accelerated schedule, a higher dose is more effective [120]. Additional evidence suggests that a fourth dose at 12 months provides good seroprotection in the long-term [123,126]. Emerging evidence around a new vaccine that only requires two doses over one month and has an earlier onset of protection suggest it may be a good, possibly cost-saving, alternative for people who inject drugs [127].
- Even one dose of the hepatitis B vaccine may provide partial immunity and for this reason vaccinating all people who seek a first dose of hepatitis B vaccination is important even if they may not come back for follow-up doses [128,129].
- People who inject drugs should be offered the full course of vaccination against COVID-19 and seasonal influenza, as well as pneumococcal vaccination, particularly if the client is HIV positive and/or more than 50 years of age [130].
- Tetanus vaccination status should be checked among people who inject drugs and a booster vaccine should be offered if vaccination status is uncertain, particularly for those who have injection site infections. Often the combined tetanus-diphtheria vaccination is given, which is advisable because diphtheria, while rare in EU/EEA, has a high case-fatality rate [14,131,132].
- There is evidence that uptake of vaccination improves when integrated into other services [133]. Furthermore, vaccination at NSP sites has been found to be cost-saving [118].
- Routine or one-off vaccination services through fixed sites or mobile services serving people who inject drugs can be of particular benefit to people who inject drugs who have difficulty accessing/attending conventional healthcare services.
- Offering vaccination in prison settings or residential drug rehabilitation centres can be effective in increasing vaccination uptake [32].
- Outreach activities may be needed to improve vaccination uptake and completion among people who inject drugs [134,135].

Intervention area 4: Testing for infectious diseases

Recommendations

- Routinely offer voluntary, confidential testing with informed consent and that is in line with relevant guidance for:
 - HCV and HIV to all people who inject drugs;
 - HBV to all people who inject drugs with no/incomplete vaccination;
 - STIs (e.g. syphilis, chlamydia, gonorrhoea) to all people who inject drugs with STI symptoms and/or those with higher risk (e.g. multiple sexual partners, exchange of sex for money/drugs);
 - TB disease to all people who inject drugs with TB signs and symptoms, and/or those with higher risk (e.g. have an exposure or predisposing underlying condition).
- All people with a positive test result should be linked to care.

Evidence and justification

Voluntary and confidential infectious disease testing of people who inject drugs is a key strategy to eliminate hepatitis B and C, HIV, STIs and TB in the EU/EEA and a prerequisite for linkage to care and treatment provision. There is a large body of evidence from EU/EEA countries generally supporting the implementation of community-based testing services, i.e. testing outside formal healthcare facilities. According to the available evidence, community-based testing is effective in reaching populations such as people who inject drugs [136]. ECDC's public

health guidance on HIV, hepatitis B, and C testing further recommended the implementation of an integrated, community-based testing approach [136]. Community-based testing is also essential to high-quality, person-centred TB care [7,8,137].

Practice considerations

General

- National and international testing guidelines should be applied to people who inject drugs, unless otherwise indicated [8,136,138,143].
- Testing should also be offered to those who have injected drugs in the past, followed by linkage to care in the event of a positive result.
- Testing for infectious disease should be free of charge for people who inject drugs.
- Settings where testing can be provided include harm reduction services, drug treatment services, lowthreshold clinics, outreach settings, pharmacies, prisons, and healthcare settings such as primary care, emergency, TB services, and hospitals.
- Hepatitis B and C testing and HIV testing is recommended in injecting and sexual partners of people who inject drugs diagnosed with HBV, HCV or HIV [136].
- Partner notification and management should be conducted following national/international guidelines [144,145].
- In some countries, review of national, regional and/or local legislation will be needed to allow for peers and other non-medical staff working in, for example, community settings to conduct rapid testing for HBV, HCV, HIV and/or other STIs for which rapid tests are available.

Specific to hepatitis and HIV

- Rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) and dried blood spot (DBS) tests for hepatitis B and C that can be delivered at the point-of-care (POC) could be considered to increase testing uptake among risk groups [136]. A benefit of POC testing is that a positive test result can be immediately acted upon by initiating linkage to care and providing risk-reduction counselling [146].
- HCV self-testing has been recommended as an additional approach to HCV testing [143] and HIV selftesting has been recommended as an additional approach to HIV testing [142]. In both cases, confirmatory testing following a positive result should be conducted.
- For HCV, periodic retesting for those at ongoing risk of infection should be considered [138], including after successful HCV treatment in order to detect possible reinfections [147].

Specific to STIs

- Testing followed by referral to treatment should be part of regular screening, especially among those that engage in condomless sex, have multiple sexual partners, exchange sex for drugs or money, are pregnant, are diagnosed with other STIs and/or on HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis [141,148].
- In recent years a range of rapid POC tests for syphilis diagnosis have been developed and, although not differentiating between active and past treated infections, they can be useful for on-site outreach testing when followed by confirmatory laboratory testing [149,150].

Specific to TB

- All people who inject drugs who have symptoms of TB disease, have an exposure (i.e. close contact with a TB case, living in prison) or predisposing underlying condition (i.e. people living with HIV) should be screened for TB disease. People living with HIV who inject drugs should be screened for TB disease at each visit to a health facility [8].
- Screening for TB infection can be resource intensive and should be well targeted. A mathematical model assessing different systematic screening strategies for TB infection estimated that annual screening of people who inject drugs and people who are homeless is more cost-effective than triennial screening in EU/EEA countries with low TB incidence [151,152].
- Interferon gamma release assays are the preferred test for screening of TB infection among people who inject drugs who do not have HIV, as a second visit is not required to interpret test results [7].
- People who are known to have TB or show clinical indications of TB should be offered HIV testing and considered for HBV and HCV testing [136].

Intervention area 5: Infectious disease treatment

Highly effective antiviral treatments for HCV and HIV have an important role in infectious disease control by reducing viral loads, thus reducing onward transmission. Antiviral treatment against HBV is able to suppress viral replication and reduce progression to cirrhosis, the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and liver-related deaths [153,154].

In the case of HCV, there has been major progress in antiviral therapeutics over the last few years with the development of direct-acting antiviral (DAA) regimes. These regimens are highly effective in clearing the virus, i.e. rendering viral RNA undetectable following a course of treatment [155,156]. This applies to both initial and reinfections with HCV, even when treatment following reinfection is delivered in non-specialist settings [142]. DAA HCV therapy is also well tolerated and effective among people on OAT and those who continue using drugs during HCV therapy.

HCV treatment targeted towards people who inject drugs at highest risk of sharing injecting equipment has the potential to prevent the greatest number of infections [157]. There have been many modelling studies exploring the impact of HCV treatment as prevention for people who inject drugs. These studies have found that even modest levels of antiviral treatment, especially with DAAs, could substantially reduce chronic HCV prevalence within the next 10 to 20 years [158,159]. These modelling studies indicate potential prevention benefits in targeting treatment towards people who inject drugs in order to avert the greatest number of HCV infections [160]. However, there is still uncertainly around the actual level of impact of HCV treatment as prevention, especially in settings with higher or increasing prevalence among people who inject drugs where some analyses have indicated that the prevention benefit may be less because of the high re-infection risk [157,161,162].

For HIV, antiretroviral therapy (ART) can effectively suppress the virus and stop progression of HIV disease [107]. Provision of ART is an essential part of care for people who inject drugs that test positive for HIV irrespective of CD4 counts [15,107,108,142]. WHO and European AIDS Clinical Society guidelines recommend initiating ART for all people living with HIV, including people who inject drugs, regardless of clinical stage and at any CD4 cell count [15,107]. People who inject drugs have treatment outcomes similar to others when ART is provided in a supportive environment [15]. HIV treatment is a life-long process, which needs additional support for adherence. ECDC guidance recommends that pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV should be accessible and affordable to all people in need of HIV prevention, where clinically appropriate, as part of combination prevention services, however, the literature on interventions to optimize PrEP use among people who inject drugs is still emerging, mostly based on small pilots and demonstration projects. PrEP is documented to be highly effective in preventing sexual transmission of HIV and it should be recognised that injecting risk and risk associated with multiple sexual contacts or the exchange of sex for money or drugs may overlap [15,148]. In addition, post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) for HIV and STIs should also be available after possible exposure [15].

Effective treatment exists for both TB disease, including drug resistant forms, and TB infection. TB preventive treatment aims at preventing progression to active disease, whereas treatment regimens for TB disease aim at curing the disease and thus preventing morbidity and mortality and in addition preventing ongoing transmission [7,139,163,164]. The most important factor determining progression from TB infection to active disease is an individual's immunological status. Identifying and treating those at the highest risk of progression with a treatment option suited to the individual is therefore key [7]. Several TB preventive treatment options are available [7]. Treatment of TB disease involves using several medicines administered in combination for an adequate duration. TB strains with drug resistance, especially rifampicin-resistant/multi-drug resistant/extensively drug-resistant organisms exist and are more difficult to treat than drug-susceptible ones. Treatment regimens for drug resistant TB can be of longer duration, with more drugs and a higher risk of side effects [165].

Effective antibiotic treatment regimens exist that can cure the three most frequent bacterial STIs, chlamydia, gonorrhoea and syphilis, however reinfections are possible [166].

It is important that those who test positive for an infectious disease are linked to care, adhere to and complete treatment as per clinical guidelines. Linkage to care interventions are those that aim at increasing the likelihood of a visit by people who inject drugs with a provider/specialist after having tested positive for an infectious disease for an initial evaluation in order to start the treatment if indicated. Adherence to treatment interventions are those that aim at improving outcomes such as treatment adherence, treatment completion, and viral suppression or elimination where applicable.

Recommendations

- Offer:
 - Antiviral treatment for those who are diagnosed with HBV and eligible for treatment;
 - Antiviral treatment for those diagnosed with HCV;
 - Antiretroviral treatment for those diagnosed with HIV;
 - Anti-TB treatment to those with TB disease;
 - TB preventive treatment for people with TB infection after ruling out TB disease;
 - Treatment for other infectious diseases such as STIs and bacterial skin infections as clinically indicated.
- Ensure there is cooperation between service providers dedicated to people who inject drugs and infectious disease care to increase linkage to care, in particular for HCV;
- Involve peer mentors to increase adherence to HCV treatment.

In addition, the following interventions/approaches were conditionally recommended: (i) directly observed therapy (DOT), contingency management, multicomponent interventions/approaches, telemedicine, primary care-based treatment to increase linkage to HCV care and adherence to treatment; (ii) peer mentors to increase linkage to HCV care; (iii) integrated OAT and HCV treatment to increase adherence to HCV treatment; (iv) multicomponent interventions to increase linkage to HIV care and adherence to treatment; and (v) cooperation between service providers to increase adherence to TB treatment.

Evidence and justification

While the certainty of evidence is low, cooperation between service providers (e.g. harm reduction services, mobile units and specialised HCV care) may improve treatment initiation rates and therefore is considered important for rapid linkage to care and initiation of treatment. In addition, while there is low certainty of evidence that peer interventions will help people who inject drugs attending a first HCV evaluation visit, there is a high certainty of evidence that peers may improve HCV treatment initiation, increase rates of DAA treatment completion and achievement of SVR12.

For the conditionally recommended interventions, very few studies were identified per intervention, with most having only very low to moderate certainties of evidence.

Practice considerations

General

- National and international guidelines regarding HBV, HCV, HIV, TB and STIs, including those regarding PrEP, PEP and ART, should be applied to people who inject drugs unless otherwise indicated [7,15,107,141,142,153-156,163,164].
- Current substance use should not be a barrier for accessing treatment as long as there are no other clinical contraindications.
- Treatment for infectious diseases should be free of charge for people who inject drugs.
- In some countries, review of national, regional and/or local legislation will be needed to allow for distribution of ART, DAA, and treatment for other diseases such as STIs to occur outside the healthcare system, as well as for the implementation of interventions such as contingency management (i.e. use of incentives).

Specific to hepatitis C

- Neither enrolment in OAT nor DOT should be a requirement to receive HCV treatment. As many patients as possible should receive DAA HCV treatment which is well tolerated and effective among both those that continue to inject and those on OAT.
- Simplified pre-treatment assessment and antiviral therapy for HCV with pan-genotypic regimes that require no pre-genotype/subtype testing in advance of starting therapy can improve access to treatment in settings or for particular groups where a more streamlined, simplified care pathway is preferable [155,156].

- Reinfection with HCV following DAA treatment can occur but people who inject drugs at risk of reinfection should still be offered treatment. Reinfection risk should be evaluated for each individual together with referrals to appropriate services targeting the relevant needs and risks to prevent reinfections following treatment [147,167,168]. Such an assessment should take both individual and contextual factors into account that have been shown to be associated with a higher risk of reinfection drug use, problematic alcohol use, younger age, male sex, being HIV-positive, being part of a high-risk injection partnership/network, and being part of a cluster of HCV-positive/HIV-positive MSM [167-170]. Those with ongoing risk behaviours should receive regular testing ideally biannual although more frequent testing can be considered depending on the context. Retreatment should be made available if reinfection is identified during post-SVR follow-up [15,171].
- Those using OAT continuously after DAA treatment have been shown to have lower rates of reinfection [167].
- Treatment of a group or network of people who inject drugs may be the most effective in preventing reinfections as it reduces the reservoir of infected people [172,173].
- The observation of HCV reinfections can be considered as an indication that treatment efforts are reaching those people who inject drugs at the highest risk. It is important to monitor reinfections to assess their extent, understand their cause and prevent them [147,168,174].
- Services should preferably be in the same geographic area and assist in referral by accompanying clients to other services.
- Peers facilitate access to communities of and interactions with people who inject drugs by promoting a trusting environment. This is important to counter the distrust of public healthcare services often experienced by marginalised communities. Different peer models and concepts can be considered, and training should be a pre-condition for people to successfully act as peers in programmes.
- It is important to assess for whom delivery of DAA using DOT is a suitable option. For example, it may be feasible for people who are stable on OAT and those with a lack of places to store medication. It may not be feasible for the most vulnerable people who inject drugs.
- Several settings may be suitable for DOT delivery, such as pharmacies, harm reduction services (NSP and OAT sites, drug consumption rooms), low threshold settings, shelters, food distribution units and prisons. The optimal settings are highly dependent on the structure of the healthcare system in a country as well as acceptability among service providers.
- Pharmacy-led DOT for HCV treatment in combination with OAT seems to improve both DAA treatment initiation and treatment adherence.
- Contingency management can enhance both motivation (financial incentive) as well as provide resources (transportation costs, food vouchers/packages, help getting health insurance, etc.) to overcome potential barriers to accessing and adhering to HCV care and treatment. Contingency management that targets people who inject drugs at venues where they are already receiving services, such as NSPs, shows some potential to improve the entire cascade of care.
- Care should be taken to not create inequalities when financial incentives are only provided in specific sites and given to specific sub-populations.
- Multicomponent interventions/approaches appear to be particularly promising for improving linkage to care
 and adherence to HCV treatment of people who inject drugs and have mental health issues and/or other
 serious health and social problems. The role of case managers and flexibility in responding to the needs of
 these populations is key.
- Telemedicine may facilitate access to HCV treatment by remotely linking patients to healthcare services. However, people who inject drugs may experience barriers to using telemedicine, including homelessness, lack of electronic equipment, limited access to internet and mobile phones and poor internet connection. In addition, a low-level of digitalisation within some healthcare systems and in certain settings such as prisons also impacts its usefulness.
- Telemedicine may be more useful for increasing adherence to treatment than it is for linkage to care, as the initiation of treatment often requires a more complex interaction with the care provider (e.g. clinical evaluation, laboratory investigations).
- Primary care settings may provide advantages for engaging people who inject drugs in HCV treatment, including knowledge of existing patient treatment plans.

Specific to HIV

- Barriers to prevention, testing and treatment of HIV among people who inject drugs should be removed. These can include stigma and discrimination, insufficient OAT and NSP coverage, and criminalisation/punitive legislation, such as criminalisation of the possession of needles and syringes.
- Implementation of a chronic care approach which is person-centred and promotes application of evidence-based clinical recommendations, enhances clinical teamwork, and encourages patients to more actively undertake self-care – may help ensure treatment adherence.

- The fragmentation of care can lead to poorer treatment adherence, limited follow-up, increased risk for treatment interruption, and poorer clinical outcomes.
- PrEP should be accessible and affordable to all in need of HIV prevention, including people who inject drugs [148,175].
- There is limited experience in the implementation of PrEP among people who inject drugs in the European setting, but recent ECDC guidance on PrEP implementation in the EU/EEA explicitly states that PrEP should be accessible and affordable to all in need of HIV prevention [148].

Specific to TB

- Cooperation between drug treatment services and institutions providing TB treatment will allow for the implementation of strategies for the early identification of TB disease, as well as rapid linkage to care and treatment.
- People who inject drugs receiving OAT should not be denied TB preventive treatment containing rifamycins; instead, healthcare providers should proactively monitor and manage any adverse events arising [176].
- Patient-specific, personalised approaches are needed to improve TB treatment adherence.

Specific to skin and soft-tissue infections

- Approaches to support early recognition and treatment of skin and soft-tissues infections in community settings are important so that people who inject drugs receive timely and appropriate medical care [177].
- Long-term injecting often leads to chronic, non-healing wounds among people who inject drugs. Wound
 management procedures can be very effective if the client-staff relationship is stable and based on trust
 and adherence to the treatment. Wound care services should be offered along with needle and syringe
 services, as well as drug treatment, where possible [178].
- The use of novel wound care materials, although often more expensive than standard materials, could be considered in vulnerable people who inject drugs as they require fewer human resources and better protect wounds.

Intervention area 6: Drug consumption rooms providing supervised injecting facilities

Supervised injecting facilities are provided by most drug consumption rooms. These are healthcare settings where people who have purchased drugs elsewhere can go to take their drugs in a clean environment, typically under the supervision of medically trained staff. They often attract the most vulnerable people who inject drugs, many of whom are already infected with blood-borne viruses or are at a relatively high risk of acquiring these infections because of multiple factors.

There are many different operational models that may be referred to as drug consumption rooms, making generalisation in this area challenging. In such facilities, staff may provide sterile injecting equipment, give information and advice on reducing risk of blood-borne viruses and other infections, and intervene in the case of overdose. Many drug consumption rooms also provide referrals to drug treatment and other healthcare and social support services.

Recommendation

• Provide supervised injecting facilities in order to reduce injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs, which could as a consequence contribute to prevention of HCV and HIV transmission.

Evidence and justification

While the evidence is insufficient to either support or discount the effectiveness of drug consumption rooms in preventing infectious diseases outcomes there is some tentative evidence to indicate that DCRs may help prevent injecting risk behaviour in the context of some operational models. Given that injecting risk behaviour is on the causal pathway to blood-borne virus transmission, prevention of HCV and HIV transmission may also be anticipated. Given the possible higher prevalence of infectious diseases among those who may utilise these facilities promoting access to treatment and preventing onwards transmission is likely to be particularly important in this setting. Most expert panel members were in favour of recommending supervised injecting facilities to help reduce injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention.

Practice considerations

- Regulatory frameworks vary across countries and may impact on whether this kind of provision can be made available and what kind of operational models are permitted.
- Drug consumption rooms with supervised injecting facilities can provide the opportunity to deliver a range of health and social support services to a particularly vulnerable and hard to reach population. These include interventions such as the provision of injecting equipment that are of known benefit in reducing the risk of infectious disease transmission. Where feasible, providing access to testing and treatment for blood-borne infections should be offered [179-181] and can be referral to other health and social services including treatment for drug problems.
- Since DCRs provide sterile injecting equipment, the practice considerations for sterile injecting equipment provision also apply here.
- DCRs may also provide facilities for people to consume through other modes of administration, e.g. smoking or inhaling. The implications of this for infectious diseases transmission requires further research scrutiny.

Possible implications for public health practice and research

The main aim of this guidance is to support policy-makers and public health programme planners by providing a synthesis of evidence and recommendations to inform effective national strategies, policies and programmes for preventing and controlling infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. The available evidence base indicates that implementation of the recommended interventions will lead to public health impact – in this case, a reduction in the incidence of new infections among people who inject drugs and improved management of people that are already infected. However, to achieve sufficient intervention coverage and thereby contribute to reaching internationally-agreed communicable diseases targets, adequate funding is necessary. To maximise public health impact, certain factors need to be considered in the planning and implementation of the recommended interventions (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Overarching considerations relating to the planning and implementation of interventions recommended in the guidance, and their relationships to public health impact



Existing legislation, financial and human recourse capacities, and public health and healthcare system infrastructure need to be considered when implementing the guidance and ensuring such implementation is sustained over time. These factors should be considered in the tailoring of interventions, as should the national and local epidemiological situation.

Given the epidemiology of both drug use and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs is subject to rapid changes, the dynamics of which are complex, multi-factorial and dependent on social and economic situations, prevention activities and other societal factors [39-43,182], strong surveillance and monitoring are essential to ensuring responsiveness and that programmes are always fit for purpose. Data and information from national surveillance and monitoring systems can also be used to track progress in reaching global goals and targets such as the SDGs and the associated targets outlined by WHO and UNAIDS [183-187]. At the European level, to support surveillance and monitoring efforts by countries, ECDC and EMCDDA coordinate surveillance activities and have developed standardised monitoring and evaluation frameworks for viral hepatitis and HIV [46,62]. Furthermore, EMCDDA also collects data on drug use and health and social responses to drug use and injecting drug use in the EU, Norway and Türkiye using a set of standardised tools [36,188,189]. This includes the monitoring of aspects of harm reduction coverage and testing coverage among people who inject drugs.

Furthermore, interventions should also be cognisant of social, cultural, physical, and behavioural factors, such as gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, level of education, income, homelessness, migration or residential status, geographical location, health literacy, and infectious disease knowledge, and ethical considerations related to these. A special ethical consideration is the principle of equivalence of care between prison and community settings [35]: the guidance endorses this principle, and most of the recommended interventions in this guidance can be delivered in prison settings.

Limitations and conclusions

This first update of the guidance incorporates evidence that has accumulated since 2011, but it has some limitations. While implementation of all the recommended interventions would provide the greatest benefit, it is recognised that it may be required to prioritise certain interventions over others. And while most harm-reduction and prevention interventions (including NSPs, OAT and vaccinations) are already known to be cost-effective or even cost-saving [118,190] the guidance itself does not suggest which of these are more cost-effective than others. In some areas, evidence is evolving rapidly. For example, recent studies and evaluations published after 2021, including those in in relation to drug consumption rooms, were not included in this evidence review.

The guidance also has other limitations. Firstly, it is focused on the adult injecting population and therefore does not address the specific needs of children and youth who inject drugs. Secondly, only selected interventions to prevent and control infectious disease among people who inject drugs underwent an evidence review. For example, where there was already sufficient evidence in the 2011 version on a particular intervention/outcome combination, no search of the literature was conducted. This means that the evidence was not updated for OAT and HIV/injecting risk behaviour and for NSPs and injecting risk behaviour. Thirdly, it was the case that for several of those interventions that were reviewed, evidence was of low quality and/or non-existent. Research is required to fill these gaps, thereby providing the basis for strengthened recommendations in the future.

Some areas where further research is needed include:

High-level:

- What is the current size of the population of people who inject drugs, as well as infectious disease
 prevalence within this population across the EU/EEA.
- Patterns and trends in stimulant injecting and their implications for infectious disease prevention and control.
- What are the resource needs for, and barriers to, scaling up the prevention, treatment, and care of
 infectious diseases in people who inject drugs so as to eliminate HIV and TB, as well as combat hepatitis,
 STIs and other diseases within this population in the EU/EEA.

Programme level:

- What are the numbers of people who inject drugs who are diagnosed, treated and virally supressed or cured for the different diseases within the EU/EEA.
- What is the optimal combination of prevention, treatment and care interventions to maximise public health impact.
- What approaches optimise linkage to care and adherence to treatment for HIV, STIs, and TB.
- What approaches are particularly effective for linking people who inject drugs who have difficulty accessing/attending conventional healthcare services to HCV care.
- What approaches are optimal for treatment as prevention (e.g. whether raising community-wide interest in and knowledge of PrEP could help facilitate PrEP adherence and uptake in people who inject drugs); preventing reinfections; and treating injection-related skin and soft tissue infections.
- Which digital interventions, including telemedicine, are applicable to different sub-populations of people who inject drugs.
- How effective is HAT, treatment for stimulant dependence, and contingency management in preventing injecting risk behaviour and by extension, infectious diseases.
- To what extent do drug consumption rooms provide an opportunity to HCV and HIV prevention, treatment and control, and what operational features are likely to facilitate or impede this.
- Which interventions could help people who inject drugs transition to safer modes of drug use depending on individual preference, that would result in reduced exposure to infectious diseases.

In conclusion, injecting drug use remains an important risk factor for acquiring blood-borne and other infectious diseases in the EU/EEA and ENP area. The prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs is important because these diseases reduce individuals' quality of life and life expectancy, and because they can lead to both indirect and direct societal costs through, for example, lost productivity, high treatment and care costs, and risk of onward transmission to other populations. Despite research gaps, there is sufficient evidence and examples of good practice [5] upon which policy-makers and public health/social programme planners can develop national strategies, policies and programmes for preventing and controlling infections and infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. The available evidence suggests that implementing the recommended interventions will lead to a reduction in the incidence of new infections among people who inject drugs and improved management of individuals with existing infections. As a result, country implementation of this guidance at scale is expected to contribute towards achievement of local, regional, national, and international infectious diseases targets.

Annex A. Overview of evidence update methods

Establishment and role of the expert panel

A multidisciplinary expert panel was established in 2021 by ECDC and EMCDDA (See Annex B for details). The Expert Panel was composed of 21 experts from a range of disciplines deemed as necessary to inform the updating of the joint ECDC/EMCDDA guidance, e.g. public health policy, drug policy, infectious diseases, mental health, civil society, advocacy, community of people who inject drugs, and harm reduction and drug treatment service providers. Experts were not appointed to represent countries but in their own capacity and areas of expertise. The panel acted exclusively as an independent technical body reviewing the provided material, discussing, and concluding based on it.

In addition to inviting experts already known to ECDC and EMCDDA based on previous collaborations and recognised scientific contributions to the field, the agencies consulted ECDC's expert directory and ECDC's Advisory Forum to identify possible panel members. The formal appointment of expert panel members was performed by ECDC/EMCDDA following expression of interest; a selection process that considered expertise area, gender balance and geographical representation; and assessment of individual declarations of conflict of interest.

Interventions regarding sterile injecting equipment, drug treatment, and drug consumption rooms

Further details regarding this review can be found in the accompanying technical report: 'Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs – Drug treatment, needle and syringe programmes and drug consumption rooms for preventing hepatitis C, HIV, and injecting risk behaviour' [1].

Literature search

An updated review commissioned by EMCDDA was undertaken to identify and synthesise the evidence, published since the 2011 guidance, to answer the following research questions, formulated according to the population, intervention, comparison and outcome (PICO) model:

• What is the effectiveness of: (i) drug treatment for both opioid and stimulant dependence; (ii) NSPs; and (iii) drug consumption rooms in the prevention of injecting risk behaviour, HCV transmission, and HIV transmission among people who inject drugs?

Injecting risk behaviour was included as an outcome in the guidance because it is on the causal pathway to bloodborne virus transmission and because there is more evidence on injecting risk behaviour than blood-borne viruses.

As the literature review was focused on updating evidence searched in 2011, methods consistent with those used in 2011 (an adapted Health Development Agency approach) were employed to ensure that the evidence was comparable. The evidence review involved a combination of literature searches for systematic reviews (i.e. an overview of reviews [191]) and for primary studies. Only for interventions where the evidence was not considered to be sufficient in the 2011 guidance an updated review was undertaken. Where no reviews for a particular intervention/outcome were identified, or the evidence was not already compelling, a review of primary studies was undertaken to fill the gaps.

Synthesis of evidence and derivation of evidence statements

To critically appraise the included systematic reviews, an adapted version of the internationally recognised and validated AMSTAR2 (A MeaSurement Tool to Assess Systematic Reviews) tool was used [192]. AMSTAR2 provides a broad assessment of review quality and generates a rating of 'high', 'moderate', 'low' or 'critically low'. These assessments were translated into 'core' or 'supplementary' reviews, a grading system that was used in the 2011 guidance. Systematic reviews that had a high or moderate AMSTAR2 rating were included as core reviews: these reviews were used to derive evidence-based statements on the effectiveness of the interventions. Systematic reviews with a low AMSTAR2 rating were included as supplementary reviews and were not considered to be of sufficient quality to derive conclusions but were included as a potential source of primary studies, where core reviews were lacking. Systematic reviews with a critically low AMSTAR2 rating were excluded.

A systematic critical appraisal of the primary studies was not undertaken; rather, the study design was used as an indication of the inferences that could be drawn from the study's findings, with randomised controlled trials, non-randomised experimental studies and cohort studies considered to be 'robust' and any other study designs considered to provide 'weaker' evidence. Results were synthesised according to a framework developed in the 2011

review of reviews, which takes into account the quality of the reviews, statements of evidence made by the reviews, and the number, findings and designs of the primary studies identified by the reviews themselves and by the supplementary searches. These factors determined the strength of the evidence ('sufficient', 'tentative', 'insufficient', 'no evidence') and evidence statements were derived.

Determining the recommendations

The evidence from the review was transferred into Evidence to Summary and Evidence to Decision tables using published frameworks [193,194] and following Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 50 (SIGN) guideline [195] format. Preliminary recommendations were drafted.

Expert panel members were asked to review the evidence, provide their assessment on the benefits, acceptability and transferability of the interventions, as well as indicate their agreement/disagreement with the preliminary recommendation drafted by the project team.

Each 'recommendation' is informed by an assessment of the evidence and expert opinion on the intervention's relevance, acceptability, wider benefits, and any potential harms. Where the panel felt the evidence available was currently insufficient to fully endorse the intervention but was sufficiently favourable for the intervention to be considered any related recommendation was classified as a 'Conditional recommendation'.

Interventions regarding sterile injecting equipment and drug treatment in combination

Further details regarding this review can be found in the accompanying technical report: Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs: Review of mathematical modelling studies of opioid agonist treatment and needle and syringe programmes for preventing hepatitis C transmission [2].

Literature search

A literature review commissioned by EMCDDA was undertaken to identify and synthesise evidence from mathematical modelling studies published up to and including 2020 to address the following PICO-modelled question:

• What is the population-level impact of: (i) opioid agonist treatment (OAT); (ii) NSPs; and (iii) the combination of OAT and NSPs with and without direct-acting antiviral (DAA) treatment for HCV in the prevention of HCV transmission among people who inject drugs?

Synthesis of evidence and derivation of evidence statements

In the absence of a validated tool to critically appraise mathematical modelling studies, a brief critical appraisal of the studies was undertaken, which examined (i) the type of model used in the study and (ii) the quality of the data sources used to obtain estimates of the efficacy of interventions at the individual level to inform the model (i.e. the underlying assumptions in the model of how well the interventions work for preventing HCV transmission). Based on these attributes, studies were graded as 'low', 'medium', or 'high' quality. Both descriptive and quantitative methods were used to synthesise the evidence from the studies: descriptive synthesis involved drawing out key conclusions from each study and comparing them in a qualitative manner to derive an overall picture of the effect for each intervention at the population level; quantitative synthesis used linear regression analysis to combine results from a large number of intervention scale-up scenarios to gain understanding into how the impact of each intervention varies as the coverage of the intervention is scaled up. Study quality was used to inform the strength of the evidence. An overall draft recommendation was formulated by the project team.

Determining the recommendations

Panel members received the technical report prior to the meeting and discussion about the draft recommendation drafted by the project team occurred at the meeting itself. The wording of the final recommendation was then agreed on by the panel members.

Interventions regarding vaccination, testing for infectious diseases and infectious disease treatment

A desk review was conducted by ECDC to identify the latest evidence-based guidelines and recommendations regarding infectious diseases vaccination, testing and treatment from international organisations or clinical societies. The questions that this desk review aimed to answer were as follows:

• Are there any new vaccination recommendations for people who inject drugs?

- Which strategies can increase coverage/participation to testing for infections among people who inject drugs?
- Does community-based testing and integrated testing approaches improve prevention of or reduce burden of infections among people who inject drugs?
- Which testing technologies can be used for testing for infections in people who inject drugs?
- Are there new (i) HCV (ii) HIV and (iii) TB preventive and curative treatment recommendations that apply to people who inject drugs?

In addition to the above, the piece on health promotion, which now appears in the 'Principles of prevention and service provision' section was updated to reflect the broader scope of health promotion, such as enabling environments.

Determining the recommendations

The recommendations for vaccination, testing and treatment (aside from those associated with linkage to care and adherence to treatment describe in section 4 below) were based on those within published international recommendations and evidence-based practice.

Interventions regarding linkage to infectious disease care and adherence to treatment

Further details regarding this review can be found in the technical reports 'A systematic literature review of interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs' [3] and 'Summary of Expert Panel meeting discussions on interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs' [4].

Literature search

ECDC commissioned a systematic review, conducted using PRISMA guidelines [196], to identify and synthesise evidence to answer the following research questions, which were formulated according to the PICO model:

- Which interventions can increase linkage to care for HBV, HCV, HIV, and TB among people who inject drugs?
- Which interventions can increase adherence to treatment for HBV, HCV, HIV, and TB among people who inject drugs?

Electronic database searches covered the period between 1 January 2011 and 8 July 2020 with no language restrictions. Studies were selected based on predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria. The Effective Public Health Practice Project tool (EPHPP) [197] was used to assess the methodological quality of included studies on the basis of: selection bias, study design, confounders, blinding, data collection method, and withdrawals/drop-outs. The quality of each study was graded as strong, moderate, or weak according to the individual ratings attributed to each dimension.

Synthesis of evidence and derivation of evidence statements

The certainty of evidence was determined based on the GRADE system [198]. The GRADE quality of evidence rating was based on the assessment of five conditions: risk of bias (limitations in study designs, methodology quality assessed with EPHPP tool); inconsistency (heterogeneity) in the direction and/or size of the estimates of effect, indirectness of the body of evidence to the populations, interventions, comparators and/or outcomes of interest, imprecision of results (underpowered study size: few participants/events/observations, wide confidence intervals), and indications of reporting publication bias. Following the recommendations of the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group [199], standardised statements 'high certainty evidence', 'moderate certainty evidence', 'low certainty evidence, 'very low certainty evidence' and 'no data or no studies' were applied to express results of an intervention with GRADE.

Given conceptual heterogeneity across studies, and variations in study designs, populations, interventions, and outcomes, meta-analysis was not conducted. In the narrative synthesis, 25 studies reporting on interventions to increase linkage to care and/or adherence to treatment for HCV (20), HIV (4) and TB (1) were included.

Determining the recommendations

The evidence from the review was transferred into Evidence to Summary and Evidence to Decision tables using published frameworks [194] and following the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 50 (SIGN) guideline format [195]. Expert panel members were asked to review the evidence and provide their assessment on the benefits, acceptability, and transferability of the interventions.

Each recommendation is made by ECDC based on an assessment of the evidence and expert opinion on the intervention's relevance, acceptability, wider benefits and potential harms. Recommendations are those based on robust evidence and/or expert opinion favouring a such. Conditional recommendations are those with weak evidence and/or where expert panel opinion was not in favour of making a stronger recommendation.
Annex B. Summary of the evidence base for the recommendations

For further details, see the accompanying technical reports [1-4].

Interventions	Similar						
	recommended intervention in 2011	Review- level evidence ^a	Evidence from primary studies ^b	Level/certainty of evidence review/primary studies in 2021	Expert opinion	International guidance documents ^c	Conclusion
Sterile injecting equipment							
Sterile needles and syringes for preventing HCV, HIV and injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs	x	x	x	Tentative (HCV), sufficient (HIV, IRB)	x	x	Recommended
Sterile needles and syringes in prisons for preventing HCV, HIV and injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs				Insufficient (HCV, HIV), no evidence (IRB)	x	x	Recommended
Sterile needles and syringes through pharmacies to increase access and population coverage, complementary to traditional needle and syringe programmes		x		Insufficient (HCV, HIV), sufficient (IRB)	x		Recommended
LDSS for preventing HCV and HIV among people who inject drugs				Insufficient (HCV, HIV)	x	x	Conditionally recommended
Sterile drug preparation equipment (cookers, filters, and water for injection) for preventing injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs	X		X	Insufficient (HCV, HIV), sufficient (IRB)	x		Recommended
Sterile injecting equipment in combination with OAT to maximise the coverage and effectiveness of these interventions among people who inject opioids		x	x	Sufficient (HCV), insufficient (HIV), tentative (IRB)	x	x	Recommended
Drug dependence treatment							
OAT for preventing HCV (primary infection and reinfection), HIV and injecting risk behaviour, and for reducing injecting frequency among people who inject opioids	x	x		Sufficient (HCV, HIV, IRB/IF)	x	x	Recommended
OAT in the prison setting for preventing injecting risk behaviour and for reducing injecting frequency among people who inject opioids, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention		x		Insufficient (HCV, HIV), sufficient (IRB/IF)	x	x	Recommended
OAT in combination with sterile injecting equipment to maximise the coverage and effectiveness of these interventions among people who inject opioids		x	X	Sufficient (HCV), insufficient (HIV), tentative (IRB)	x	x	Recommended
HAT for reducing opioid use in specific patient groups, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention				No evidence (HCV, HIV, IRB/IF)	x		Conditionally recommended
Pharmacological treatment for reducing stimulant use in specific patient groups, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention				No evidence (HCV, HIV, IRB/IF)	x		Conditionally recommended
IECS as stand-alone interventions or alongside other interventions – OAT and NSPs – to reduce injecting risk behaviour and injection frequency	X	x		Insufficient (HCV, HIV), sufficient (IRB/IF)	x		Recommended
IECS as stand-alone interventions or alongside other interventions – OAT and NSP – in the prison setting to reduce injecting risk behaviour and injection frequency				No evidence (HCV, HIV), insufficient (IRB/IF)	x	x	Recommended
Contingency management to reduce drug use and increase retention in drug treatment, which could be beneficial to HCV and HIV prevention				No evidence (HCV, HIV), insufficient (IRB/IF)	x		Conditionally recommended
Technology-based approaches to the delivery of psychosocial interventions to address challenges in delivering timely in-person services and historically underserved populations				No evidence (HCV, HIV), insufficient (IRB/IF)	x		Conditionally recommended
Vaccination							
Offer vaccinations against hepatitis A and B, respiratory infections such as COVID-19 and influenza, and against tetanus to prevent infections and/or their complications in people who inject drugs; in addition, particularly for people living with HIV who inject drugs, offer the pneumococcal and the human papillomavirus vaccines	X					x	Recommended ^c
Testing for infectious diseases							
Routinely offer voluntary, confidential testing with informed consent and that is in line with relevant guidance for: HCV and HIV to all people who inject drugs; HBV to all people who inject drugs with no/incomplete vaccination; STIs (e.g. syphilis, chlamydia, gonorrhoea) to all people who inject drugs with STI symptoms and/or those with higher risk (e.g. multiple sexual partners, exchange of sex for money/drugs); TB disease to all people who inject drugs with TB signs and symptoms, and/or those with higher risk (e.g. have an exposure or predisposing underlying condition). All people with a positive test result should be linked to care.	x					x	Recommended

Interventions	Similar	For the 2022 update						
	recommended intervention in 2011	Review- level evidenceª	Evidence from primary studies ^b	Level/certainty of evidence review/primary studies in 2021	Expert opinion	International guidance documents ^c	Conclusion	
Infectious disease treatment								
Antiviral treatment for those who are diagnosed with HBV and eligible for treatment; antiviral treatment for those diagnosed with HCV; antiretroviral treatment for those diagnosed with HIV; anti-TB treatment to those with TB disease; TB preventive treatment for people with TB infection after ruling out TB disease; and treatment for other infectious diseases such as STIs and bacterial skin infections as clinically indicated.	X					x	Recommended	
Cooperation between service providers dedicated to people who inject drugs to increase linkage care, in particular for HCV			x	Very low (1 study)	x		Recommended	
Peer mentors to increase adherence to HCV treatment			x	High (1 study)	x		Recommended	
Directly observed therapy (adapted to local settings and specific needs of people who inject drugs) to increase linkage to HCV care			x	Moderate (1 study)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Directly observed therapy (adapted to local settings and specific needs of people who inject drugs) to increase adherence to HCV treatment			x	Very low to high (4 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Contingency management to increase linkage to HCV care			x	Very low to high (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Contingency management to increase adherence to HCV treatment			x	Very low to high (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Telemedicine for HCV treatment			x	Very low to low (1 study)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Peer mentors to increase linkage to HCV care			x	Low to high (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Primary care-based HCV treatment			x	Moderate (1 study)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Integrated OAT to increase adherence to HCV treatment			x	Low to moderate (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Multicomponent interventions to increase linkage to HCV care			x	Moderate (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
A chronic care approach to increase linkage to HIV care			x	Very low (1 study)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Multicomponent approaches to increase adherence to HCV treatment			x	Moderate to high (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Multicomponent interventions to increase adherence to HIV treatment			x	Low (2 studies)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Cooperation between service providers to increase adherence to TB treatment			x	Very low (1 study)	x		Conditionally recommended	
Drug consumption rooms providing supervised injecting facilities								
Provide supervised injecting facilities in order to reduce injecting risk behaviour among people who inject drugs, which could as a consequence contribute to prevention of HCV and HIV transmission	X	x	x	Insufficient (HCV, HIV), tentative (IRB)	x		Recommended	

HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HIV: human immunodeficiency virus; IF: injecting frequency; IRB: injecting risk behaviour; LDSS: low dead space syringes; NSP: needle and syringe programme; OAT: opioid agonist treatment; STI: sexually transmitted infection; TB: tuberculosis.

^a There had to be at least a tentative level (or moderate certainty) of evidence for at least one the outcomes for the column to be

populated with an 'x'. ^b A review of primary studies was undertaken to fill the gaps where no reviews for a particular intervention/outcome were identified, or the evidence was not already compelling.

^c For some interventions, especially ones related to vaccination, testing for infectious disease, and infectious disease treatment, there was not systematic review because of the existence of accepted international guidelines (e.g. by WHO, ECDC) and clinical practice. Regarding interventions in prisons, United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (the Nelson Mandela Rules) care was considered.

References

- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs Drug treatment, needle and syringe programmes and drug consumption rooms for preventing hepatitis C, HIV and injecting risk behaviour, Technical report. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/technical-reports/drug-treatment-needle-and-syringeprogrammes-and-drug-consumption-rooms-preventing-hepatitis-c-hiv-and-injecting-risk-behaviour_en
 </u>
- 2. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Evidence for the effectiveness of interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs: Review of mathematical modelling studies of opioid agonist treatment and needle and syringe programmes for preventing hepatitis C transmission, Technical report. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2023. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/technical-reports/review-mathematical-modelling-studies-opioid-agonist-treatment-and-needle-and-syringe-programmes-preventing-hepatitis-c-transmission_en
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). A systematic literature review of interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/systematic-literature-review-interventions-increaselinkage-care-and-adherence</u>
- 4. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Summary of Expert Panel meeting discussions on interventions to increase linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV and tuberculosis among people who inject drugs. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/summary-expert-panel-meeting-discussionsinterventions-increase-linkage-care-and</u>
- 5. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Models of good practice for community-based testing, linkage to care and adherence to treatment for hepatitis B and C, HIV, and tuberculosis and for health promotion interventions to prevent infections among people who inject drugs. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/models-good-practice-community-based-testing-linkage-care-and-adherence-treatment</u>
- 6. World Health Organization (WHO). Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. Ottawa, Canada: WHO; 1986. Available at: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/___data/assets/pdf_file/0004/129532/Ottawa_Charter.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 1: prevention: tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240001503</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 2: screening systematic screening for tuberculosis disease. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/340255/9789240022676-eng.pdf</u>
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), WHO Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe). HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2021 – 2020 data. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hiv-aids-surveillance-europe-2021-2020-data
- 10. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) WHOROfEWE. Tuberculosis surveillance and monitoring in Europe 2022 2020 data. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/tuberculosis-surveillance-and-monitoring-europe-2022-2020-data
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis B Annual Epidemiological Report for 2020. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hepatitis-b-annual-epidemiological-report-2020</u>
- 12. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis C Annual Epidemiological Report for 2020. Stockholm: ECDC; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hepatitis-c-annual-epidemiological-report-2020</u>
- United Nations (UN) Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Goal 3 Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages: targets and indicators. New York, US: UN. Available at: <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal3</u>

- 14. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. Stockholm: ECDC; 2011. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/ecdc-and-emcdda-technical-guidance-prevention-and-control-infectious-diseases-0</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240052390</u>
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). HIV Prevention, Treatment, Care and Support for People Who Use Stimulant Drugs: Technical Guide. Vienna: UNODC; 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids/publications/People who use drugs/19-04568 HIV Prevention Guide ebook.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global health sector strategy on sexually transmitted infections, 2016-2021. Towards ending STIs. Geneva: WHO; 2016. Available at: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246296/WHO-RHR-16.09-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global health sector strategy on HIV 2016-2021. Towards ending AIDS. Geneva: WHO; 2016. Available at: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246178/WHO-HIV-2016.05-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: WHO; 2016. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/246177/WHO-HIV-2016.06-</u> <u>eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>
- 20. World Health Organization (WHO). The end TB strategy. Geneva: WHO; 2015. Available at: https://www.who.int/teams/global-tuberculosis-programme/the-end-tb-strategy
- 21. Degenhardt L, Charlson F, Stanaway J, Larney S, Alexander LT, Hickman M, et al. Estimating the burden of disease attributable to injecting drug use as a risk factor for HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2016 Dec;16(12):1385-98.
- 22. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Drug-related infectious diseases in Europe. Update from the EMCDDA expert network Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/13091/Technical-report_DRID2020.pdf</u>
- 23. Degenhardt L, Peacock A, Colledge S, Leung J, Grebely J, Vickerman P, et al. Global prevalence of injecting drug use and sociodemographic characteristics and prevalence of HIV, HBV, and HCV in people who inject drugs: a multistage systematic review. The Lancet Global health. 2017 Dec;5(12):e1192-e207.
- 24. Paintsil E, Binka M, Patel A, Lindenbach BD, Heimer R. Hepatitis C virus maintains infectivity for weeks after drying on inanimate surfaces at room temperature: implications for risks of transmission. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014 Apr 15;209(8):1205-11.
- 25. Platt L, Minozzi S, Reed J, Vickerman P, Hagan H, French C, et al. Needle syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy for preventing hepatitis C transmission in people who inject drugs. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017 Sep 18;9(9):Cd012021.
- 26. Inoue T, Tanaka Y. Hepatitis B virus and its sexually transmitted infection an update. Microbial cell (Graz, Austria). 2016 Sep 5;3(9):420-37.
- Strathdee SA, Sherman SG. The role of sexual transmission of HIV infection among injection and noninjection drug users. Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine. 2003 Dec;80(4 Suppl 3):iii7-14.
- Tohme RA, Holmberg SD. Is sexual contact a major mode of hepatitis C virus transmission? Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2010 Oct;52(4):1497-505.
- 29. Tomkins A, George R, Kliner M. Sexualised drug taking among men who have sex with men: a systematic review. Perspect Public Health. 2019 Jan;139(1):23-33.
- Schreck B, Victorri-Vigneau C, Guerlais M, Laforgue E, Grall-Bronnec M. Slam Practice: A Review of the Literature. European Addiction Research. 2021;27(3):161-78. Available at: <u>https://www.karger.com/DOI/10.1159/000511897</u>
- 31. Nerlander LMC, Hoots BE, Bradley H, Broz D, Thorson A, Paz-Bailey G. HIV infection among MSM who inject methamphetamine in 8 US cities. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2018 Sep 1;190:216-23.

- 32. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Public health guidance on prevention and control of blood-borne viruses in prison settings. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/public-health-guidance-prevention-control-bloodborne-viruses-prison-settings</u>
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Prison and drugs in Europe: current and future challenges. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/insights/prison-and-drugs-in-europe_en</u>
- 34. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Trends in injecting drug use in Europe. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2010.
- 35. United Nations (UN) General Assembly. ResolutionA/RES/70/175: United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (the Nelson Mandela Rules) New York: UN; 2015. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/RES/70/175
- 36. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). European Drug Report 2021: Trends and Developments. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/13838/TDAT21001ENN.pdf</u>
- LaMonaca K, Dumchev K, Dvoriak S, Azbel L, Morozova O, Altice FL. HIV, Drug Injection, and Harm Reduction Trends in Eastern Europe and Central Asia: Implications for International and Domestic Policy. Current psychiatry reports. 2019 Jun 3;21(7):47.
- 38. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Drugs in syringes from six European cities: results from the ESCAPE project 2017. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2019. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/rapid-communications/drugs-in-syringes-from-six-european-cities
- 39. Arendt V, Guillorit L, Origer A, Sauvageot N, Vaillant M, Fischer A, et al. Injection of cocaine is associated with a recent HIV outbreak in people who inject drugs in Luxembourg. PloS one. 2019;14(5):e0215570.
- 40. Giese C, Igoe D, Gibbons Z, Hurley C, Stokes S, McNamara S, et al. Injection of new psychoactive substance snow blow associated with recently acquired HIV infections among homeless people who inject drugs in Dublin, Ireland, 2015. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2015;20(40)
- 41. Hanke K, Fiedler S, Grumann C, Ratmann O, Hauser A, Klink P, et al. A Recent Human Immunodeficiency Virus Outbreak Among People Who Inject Drugs in Munich, Germany, Is Associated With Consumption of Synthetic Cathinones. Open forum infectious diseases. 2020 Jun;7(6):ofaa192.
- 42. McAuley A, Palmateer NE, Goldberg DJ, Trayner KMA, Shepherd SJ, Gunson RN, et al. Re-emergence of HIV related to injecting drug use despite a comprehensive harm reduction environment: a cross-sectional analysis. The lancet HIV. 2019 May;6(5):e315-e24.
- 43. Tarján A, Dudás M, Wiessing L, Horváth G, Rusvai E, Tresó B, et al. HCV prevalence and risk behaviours among injectors of new psychoactive substances in a risk environment in Hungary-An expanding public health burden. The International journal on drug policy. 2017 Mar;41:1-7.
- 44. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis C: Annual epidemiological report for 2019. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021.
- 45. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis B: Annual epidemiological report for 2019. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021.
- 46. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Elimination barometer on viral hepatitis among people who inject drugs in Europe. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2021. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/html/viral-hepatitis-elimination-barometer_en
- 47. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Drug-related infectious diseases in Europe. Update from the EMCDDA expert network, 2020. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/13091/Technical-report_DRID2020.pdf</u>
- 48. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Monitoring the responses to hepatitis B and C epidemics in EU/EEA Member States, 2019. Stockholm: ECDC; 2020. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/hepatitis-B-C-monitoring-responses-hepatitis-B-C-epidemics-EU-EEA-Member-States-2019_0.pdf

- Rigoni R, Tammi T, van der Gouwe D, Oberzil V, Csak R, Schatz E. Civil Society Monitoring of Harm Reduction in Europe, 2020. Data Report. Amsterdam: European Harm Reduction Network; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.correlation-net.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/monitoring_report2020.pdf</u>
- 50. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Policy Statement: Drug use and the global hepatitis C elimination goal. Brussels: EASL; 2020. Available at: <u>https://easl.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/full-version-easl-policy-statement-on-drug-use-and-the-global-hepatitis-c-elimination-goal.pdf</u>
- 51. Mentha N, Clément S, Negro F, Alfaiate D. A review on hepatitis D: From virology to new therapies. Journal of advanced research. 2019 May;17:3-15.
- 52. Stockdale AJ, Kreuels B, Henrion MYR, Giorgi E, Kyomuhangi I, de Martel C, et al. The global prevalence of hepatitis D virus infection: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of hepatology. 2020 Sep;73(3):523-32.
- 53. Sureau C, Negro F. The hepatitis delta virus: Replication and pathogenesis. Journal of hepatology. 2016 Apr;64(1 Suppl):S102-s16.
- 54. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis A outbreaks in the EU/EEA mostly affecting men who have sex with men second update, 19 May 2017. Stockholm: ECDC; 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/RRA-19-May-2017_UPDATE_2-HepatitisA-in-mostly-MSM.pdf</u>
- 55. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Hepatitis A virus in the EU/EEA, 1975–2014. A systematic review of seroprevalence and incidence comprising European surveillance data and national vaccination recommendations. Stockholm: ECDC; 2016. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/media/en/publications/Publications/hepatitis-a-virus-EU-EEA-1975-2014.pdf
- 56. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Rapid communication: Drug-related infectious diseases in Europe: update from the EMCDDA expert network, October 2017. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2017. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/6462/20175424_TD0417745ENN_PDF.pdf
- 57. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Annual Epidemiological Report for 2016: Hepatitis A. Stockholm: ECDC; 2019. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/AER-2016-hepatitis-A.pdf
- 58. United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Outbreak of Hepatitis A Virus (HAV) Infections among Persons Who Use Drugs and Persons Experiencing Homelessness. Atlanta: CDC; 2018. Available at: <u>https://emergency.cdc.gov/han/han00412.asp</u>
- 59. Stengaard AR, Combs L, Supervie V, Croxford S, Desai S, Sullivan AK, et al. HIV seroprevalence in five key populations in Europe: a systematic literature review, 2009 to 2019. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2021 Nov;26(47)
- 60. Des Jarlais DC, Sypsa V, Feelemyer J, Abagiu AO, Arendt V, Broz D, et al. HIV outbreaks among people who inject drugs in Europe, North America, and Israel. The lancet HIV. 2020 Jun;7(6):e434-e42.
- 61. Roussos S, Paraskevis D, Psichogiou M, Kostaki EG, Flountzi E, Angelopoulos T, et al. Ongoing HIV transmission following a large outbreak among people who inject drugs in Athens, Greece (2014-20). Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2022 Jan 24
- 62. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Continuum of HIV care. Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia: 2020 progress report. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/hiv-continuum-of-care-dublin-declaration-2021.pdf
- 63. Dunleavy K, Munro A, Roy K, Hutchinson S, Palmateer N, Knox T, et al. Association between harm reduction intervention uptake and skin and soft tissue infections among people who inject drugs. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2017 May 1;174:91-7.
- 64. Robertson R, Broers B, Harris M. Injecting drug use, the skin and vasculature. Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2021 Jul;116(7):1914-24.
- 65. Larney S, Peacock A, Mathers BM, Hickman M, Degenhardt L. A systematic review of injecting-related injury and disease among people who inject drugs. Drug and alcohol dependence. 2017 Feb 1;171:39-49.

- 66. Palmateer NE, Ramsay CN, Browning L, Goldberg DJ, Hutchinson SJ. Anthrax Infection Among Heroin Users in Scotland During 2009–2010: A Case-Control Study by Linkage to a National Drug Treatment Database. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2012;55(5):706-10. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cis511
- 67. Price EP, Seymour ML, Sarovich DS, Latham J, Wolken SR, Mason J, et al. Molecular epidemiologic investigation of an anthrax outbreak among heroin users, Europe. Emerging infectious diseases. 2012;18(8):1307-13. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22840345 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3414016/
- 68. Hope VD, Palmateer N, Wiessing L, Marongiu A, White J, Ncube F, et al. A decade of spore-forming bacterial infections among European injecting drug users: pronounced regional variation. American journal of public health. 2012 Jan;102(1):122-5.
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Wound botulism in people who inject heroin, 69. Norway and the United Kingdom – 14 February 2015. Stockholm:: ECDC; 2015. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/856/09-02-2015-RRA-Botulism-Norway,%20United%20Kingdom.pdf
- 70. Trayner KMA, Weir A, McAuley A, Godbole G, Amar C, Grant K, et al. A pragmatic harm reduction approach to manage a large outbreak of wound botulism in people who inject drugs, Scotland 2015. Harm reduction journal. 2018 Jul 11;15(1):36.
- 71. Kraef C, Bentzon A, Skrahina A, Mocroft A, Peters L, Lundgren JD, et al. Improving healthcare for patients with HIV, tuberculosis and hepatitis C in eastern Europe: a review of current challenges and important next steps. HIV medicine. 2021 Sep 1
- 72. Getahun H, Matteelli A, Abubakar I, Aziz MA, Baddeley A, Barreira D, et al. Management of latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection: WHO guidelines for low tuberculosis burden countries. The European respiratory journal. 2015 Dec;46(6):1563-76.
- 73. Deiss RG, Rodwell TC, Garfein RS. Tuberculosis and illicit drug use: review and update. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2009 Jan 1;48(1):72-82.
- 74. Selwyn PA, Hartel D, Lewis VA, Schoenbaum EE, Vermund SH, Klein RS, et al. A prospective study of the risk of tuberculosis among intravenous drug users with human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med. 1989 Mar 2;320(9):545-50.
- 75. Oprea C, Ianache I, Calistru PI, Nica M, Ruta S, Smith C, et al. Increasing incidence of HIV- associated tuberculosis in Romanian injecting drug users. HIV medicine. 2018 May;19(5):316-23.
- 76. Goetsch U, Bellinger OK, Buettel KL, Gottschalk R. Tuberculosis among drug users and homeless persons: impact of voluntary X-ray investigation on active case finding. Infection. 2012 Aug;40(4):389-95.
- Van der Werf MJ, Ködmön C, Zucs P, Hollo V, Amato-Gauci AJ, Pharris A. Tuberculosis and HIV coinfection 77. in Europe: looking at one reality from two angles. AIDS (London, England). 2016 Nov 28;30(18):2845-53.
- 78. Rüütel K, Parker RD, Sobolev I, Loit HM. Tuberculosis knowledge among injecting drug users visiting syringe exchange programme in Tallinn, Estonia. Central European journal of public health. 2012 Dec;20(4):248-51.
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Drug-related infectious disease 79. (DRID): update from the expert network, October 2021. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2021. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/meeting-reports-and-conference-proceedings/drug-relatedinfectious-diseases-drid-network-october-2021/html_en
- 80. Wang QQ, Kaelber DC, Xu R, Volkow ND. COVID-19 risk and outcomes in patients with substance use disorders: analyses from electronic health records in the United States. Mol Psychiatry. 2021 Jan;26(1):30-9.
- 81. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). A comprehensive approach to HIV/STI prevention in the context of sexual health in the EU/EEA. Stockholm: ECDC; 2013. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/media/en/publications/Publications/HVI-STI-preventioncomprehensive-approach-in-the-context-of-sexual-health-EU-EEA.pdf
- 82. Pufall EL, Kall M, Shahmanesh M, Nardone A, Gilson R, Delpech V, et al. Sexualized drug use ('chemsex') and high-risk sexual behaviours in HIV-positive men who have sex with men. HIV medicine. 2018;19(4):261-70.
- 83. World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Technical guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Geneva: WHO; 2012. Available at:

https://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-

aids/publications/People who use drugs/Target setting guide2012 eng.pdf

- 84. United Nations (UN) General Assembly. Basic Principles for the Treatment of Prisoners : resolution / adopted by the General Assembly: UN General Assembly; 1991. Available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/48abd5740.html
- 85. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe). Prisons and Health. Copenhagen: WHO/Europe; 2014. Available at: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/prisons-and-health</u>
- 86. Hancock E, Ward Z, Ayres R, Neale J, Hussey D, Kesten JM, et al. Detachable low dead space syringes for the prevention of hepatitis C among people who inject drugs in Bristol, UK: an economic evaluation. Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2020 Apr;115(4):702-13.
- 87. World Health Organization (WHO). Guidance on prevention of viral hepatitis B and C among people who inject drugs. Geneva: WHO; 2012. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241504041
- 88. McGowan C, Hedrich D. Harm reduction equipment: A technical guide. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2021. Available at: https://www.harmreductionconference.eu/index.php/programme/
- 89. Scott J, Mackridge AJ. Pharmacy support staff involvement in, and attitudes towards, pharmacy-based services for drug misusers. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice. 2010;17(6):325-32. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1211/ijpp.17.06.0002
- 90. World Health Organization (WHO). World Health Organization Model List of Essential Medicines, 21st List, 2019. Geneva: WHO; 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHOMVPEMPIAU2019.06</u>
- 91. Strang J, Volkow ND, Degenhardt L, Hickman M, Johnson K, Koob GF, et al. Opioid use disorder. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2020 Jan 9;6(1):3.
- 92. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). New heroin-assisted treatment. Recent evidence and current practices of supervised injectable heroin treatment in Europe and beyond. EMCDDA Insights. Lisbon: EMCDDA; 2012. Available at: <u>https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/insights/heroin-assisted-treatment_en</u>
- 93. Gilchrist G, Swan D, Widyaratna K, Marquez-Arrico JE, Hughes E, Mdege ND, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Psychosocial Interventions to Reduce Drug and Sexual Blood Borne Virus Risk Behaviours Among People Who Inject Drugs. AIDS and behavior. 2017 Jul;21(7):1791-811.
- 94. Calvo F, Turró-Garriga O, Carbonell X. Evaluation of the efficacy of WhatsApp through a harm reduction intervention group for injecting drug users. Adicciones. 2021 Jul 1;33(3):201-16.
- 95. Mattick RP, Kimber J, Breen C, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008 Apr 16(2):Cd002207.
- 96. Faggiano F, Vigna-Taglianti F, Versino E, Lemma P. Methadone maintenance at different dosages for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003 (3):Cd002208.
- 97. World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). International standards for the treatment of drug use disorders: revised edition incorporating results of field-testing. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020. Available at: https://www.unodc.org/documents/drug-prevention-and-treatment/UNODC-WHO International Standards Treatment Drug Use Disorders April 2020.pdf
- 98. Stone J, Degenhardt L, Grebely J, Larney S, Altice FL, Smyrnov P, et al. Modelling the intervention effect of opioid agonist treatment on multiple mortality outcomes in people who inject drugs: a three-setting analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2021 Apr;8(4):301-9.
- Degenhardt L, Grebely J, Stone J, Hickman M, Vickerman P, Marshall BDL, et al. Global patterns of opioid use and dependence: harms to populations, interventions, and future action. Lancet (London, England). 2019 Oct 26;394(10208):1560-79.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for the psychosocially assisted pharmacological treatment of opioid dependence. Geneva: WHO; 2009. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/opioid_dependence_quidelines.pdf</u>
- Korownyk C, Perry D, Ton J, Kolber MR, Garrison S, Thomas B, et al. Managing opioid use disorder in primary care: PEER simplified guideline. Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien. 2019 May;65(5):321-30.
- 102. Torres-Leguizamon M, Reynaud EG, Néfau T, Duplessy C. HaRePo (harm reduction by post): an innovative and effective harm reduction programme for people who use drugs using email, telephone, and post service. Harm reduction journal. 2020 Aug 24;17(1):59.

- Fraser H, Vellozzi C, Hoerger TJ, Evans JL, Kral AH, Havens J, et al. Scaling Up Hepatitis C Prevention and 103. Treatment Interventions for Achieving Elimination in the United States: A Rural and Urban Comparison. American journal of epidemiology. 2019 Aug 1;188(8):1539-51.
- 104. Fraser H, Martin NK, Brummer-Korvenkontio H, Carrieri P, Dalgard O, Dillon J, et al. Model projections on the impact of HCV treatment in the prevention of HCV transmission among people who inject drugs in Europe. Journal of hepatology. 2018 Mar;68(3):402-11.
- 105. Martin NK, Hickman M, Hutchinson SJ, Goldberg DJ, Vickerman P. Combination interventions to prevent HCV transmission among people who inject drugs: modeling the impact of antiviral treatment, needle and syringe programs, and opiate substitution therapy. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2013 Aug; 57 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S39-45.
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Immunisation and vaccines. Stockholm: ECDC. 106. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/immunisation-and-vaccines
- 107. European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines Version 11.1. Brussels: EACS; 2022. Available at: https://eacs.sanfordguide.com/
- 108. European AIDS Clinical Society. Guidelines Version 10.1. Brussels: EACS; 2020. Available at: https://www.eacsociety.org/media/guidelines-10.1_finaljan2021_1.pdf
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Vaccine-preventable diseases. Stockholm: 109. ECDC. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/immunisation-vaccines/facts/vaccine-preventablediseases
- 110. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Guidance on HPV vaccination in EU countries: focus on boys, people living with HIV and 9-valent HPV vaccine introduction. Stockholm: ECDC; 2020.
- World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe). European Immunization Agenda 111. 2030. Copenhagen: WHO/Europe; 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/9789289056052
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Vaccine schedules in all countries in the 112. EU/EEA. Stockholm: ECDC. Available at: https://vaccine-schedule.ecdc.europa.eu/
- Ambrosch F, Wiedermann G, André FE, Delem A, Gregor H, Hofmann H, et al. Clinical and immunological 113. investigation of a new combined hepatitis A and hepatitis B vaccine. J Med Virol. 1994 Dec;44(4):452-6.
- Perrett K, Granerød J, Crowcroft N, Carlisle R. Changing epidemiology of hepatitis A: should we be doing 114. more to vaccinate injecting drug users? Communicable disease and public health. 2003 Jun;6(2):97-100.
- Chu CJ, Lee SD. Hepatitis B virus/hepatitis C virus coinfection: epidemiology, clinical features, viral 115. interactions and treatment. Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology. 2008 Apr;23(4):512-20.
- Jamma S, Hussain G, Lau DT, Current Concepts of HBV/HCV Coinfection: Coexistence, but Not Necessarily 116. in Harmony. Current hepatitis reports. 2010;9(4):260-9.
- Donato F, Boffetta P, Puoti M. A meta-analysis of epidemiological studies on the combined effect of hepatitis 117. B and C virus infections in causing hepatocellular carcinoma. International journal of cancer. 1998 Jan 30;75(3):347-54.
- Hu Y, Grau LE, Scott G, Seal KH, Marshall PA, Singer M, et al. Economic evaluation of delivering hepatitis B 118. vaccine to injection drug users. American journal of preventive medicine. 2008 Jul;35(1):25-32.
- Jacomet C, Guyot-Lénat A, Bonny C, Henquell C, Rude M, Dydymski S, et al. Addressing the challenges of 119. chronic viral infections and addiction in prisons: the PRODEPIST study. Eur J Public Health. 2016 Feb;26(1):122-8.
- 120. Brissette S, Gomez M, Lambert J, Willems B. Efficacy of a short-schedule/high dose hepatitis B vaccination in drug users. Journal of hepatology. 2002;36:100-1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-8278(02)80354-3
- 121. Wright NM, Campbell TL, Tompkins CN. Comparison of conventional and accelerated hepatitis B immunisation schedules for homeless drug users. Communicable disease and public health. 2002 Dec;5(4):324-6.
- Tressler S, Bhandari R. Interventions to Increase Completion of Hepatitis B Vaccination in People who Inject 122. Drugs: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Open forum infectious diseases. 2019 Dec;6(12):ofz521.
- Jin H, Tan Z, Zhang X, Wang B, Zhao Y, Liu P. Comparison of Accelerated and Standard Hepatitis B 123. Vaccination Schedules in High-Risk Healthy Adults: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. PloS one. 2015;10(7):e0133464.

- 124. Rodrigo JM, Serra MA, Aparisi L, Escudero A, Gilabert MS, García F, et al. Immune response to hepatitis B vaccine in parenteral drug abusers. Vaccine. 1992;10(11):798-801.
- 125. Quaglio G, Talamini G, Lugoboni F, Lechi A, Venturini L, Jarlais DC, et al. Compliance with hepatitis B vaccination in 1175 heroin users and risk factors associated with lack of vaccine response. Addiction (Abingdon, England). 2002 Aug;97(8):985-92.
- 126. Van Herck K, Leuridan E, Van Damme P. Schedules for hepatitis B vaccination of risk groups: balancing immunogenicity and compliance. Sexually transmitted infections. 2007 Oct;83(6):426-32.
- 127. Rosenthal EM, Hall EW, Rosenberg ES, Harris A, Nelson NP, Schillie S. Assessing the cost-utility of preferentially administering Heplisav-B vaccine to certain populations. Vaccine. 2020 Dec 3;38(51):8206-15.
- 128. André FE. Summary of safety and efficacy data on a yeast-derived hepatitis B vaccine. The American journal of medicine. 1989 Sep 4;87(3a):14s-20s.
- 129. Zajac BA, West DJ, McAleer WJ, Scolnick EM. Overview of clinical studies with hepatitis B vaccine made by recombinant DNA. The Journal of infection. 1986 Jul;13 Suppl A:39-45.
- 130. Heffelfinger JD, Patel P, Brooks JT, Calvet H, Daley CL, Dean HD, et al. Pandemic influenza: implications for programs controlling for HIV infection, tuberculosis, and chronic viral hepatitis. American journal of public health. 2009 Oct;99 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S333-9.
- 131. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Disease data from ECDC Surveillance Atlas diphtheria. Stockholm: ECDC. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/diphtheria/surveillance-anddisease-data/disease-data-atlas</u>
- 132. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Factsheet about diphtheria. Stockholm: ECDC. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/diphtheria/facts
- 133. Stancliff S, Salomon N, Perlman DC, Russell PC. Provision of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines to injection drug users at a syringe exchange. Journal of substance abuse treatment. 2000 Apr;18(3):263-5.
- 134. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Guidance on the provision of support for medically and socially vulnerable populations in EU/EEA countries and the United Kingdom during the COVID-19 pandemic. Stockholm:: ECDC; 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/Medically-and-socially-vulnerable-populations-COVID-19.pdf</u>
- 135. Iversen J, Peacock A, Price O, Byrne J, Dunlop A, Maher L. COVID-19 vaccination among people who inject drugs: Leaving no one behind. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2021 May;40(4):517-20.
- 136. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Public health guidance on HIV, hepatitis B and C testing in the EU/EEA An integrated approach. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018.
- 137. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Guidance on tuberculosis control in vulnerable and hard-to-reach populations. Stockholm: ECDC; 2016.
- 138. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing. Geneva: WHO; 2017. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254621/9789241549981-eng.pdf
- 139. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Programmatic management of latent tuberculosis infection in the European Union. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/programmatic-management-latent-tuberculosis-infection-european-union
- 140. European Respiratory Society, European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). European Union Standards for Tuberculosis Care: 2017 update. Stockholm: ECDC; 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/ESTC-leaflet-September-2018.pdf</u>
- 141. International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections. Guidelines and resources for patients and clinicians. Birmingham: IUSTI. Available at: <u>https://iusti.org/guidelines-resources/</u>
- 142. World Health Organization (WHO). Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240031593
- 143. World Health Organization (WHO). Recommendations and guidance on hepatitis C virus self-testing. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240031128</u>
- 144. Gamoudi D, Flew S, Cusini M, Benardon S, Poder A, Radcliffe K. 2018 European guideline on the organization of a consultation for sexually transmitted infections. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology : JEADV. 2019 Aug;33(8):1452-8.

- Glaspy S, Cosmaro L, Botsi C, Stamou M, Giannopoulou M, Isari AM, et al. Integrating partner notification 145. and contact tracing services across Europe: findings from the Integrate project. BMC infectious diseases. 2021 Sep 13;21(Suppl 2):796.
- 146. Fernàndez-López L, Folch C, Majó X, Gasulla L, Casabona J. Implementation of rapid HIV and HCV testing within harm reduction programmes for people who inject drugs: a pilot study. AIDS care. 2016;28(6):712-6.
- 147. The Hepatitis C Trust and HCV Action. Reframing Reinfection. London: The Hepatitis C Trust; 2022. Available at: http://www.hepctrust.org.uk/blog/mar-2022/hepatitis-c-trust-and-hcv-action-publishreframing-reinfection-report
- 148. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). HIV Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis in the EU/EEA and the UK: implementation, standards and monitoring. Operational guidance. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/HIV-PrEP-eueea-and-uk-implementationstandards-monitoring-guidance
- 149. Janier M, Unemo M, Dupin N, Tiplica GS, Potočnik M, Patel R. 2020 European guideline on the management of syphilis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology : JEADV. 2021 Mar;35(3):574-88.
- 150. Toskin I, Murtagh M, Peeling RW, Blondeel K, Cordero J, Kiarie J. Advancing prevention of sexually transmitted infections through point-of-care testing: target product profiles and landscape analysis. Sexually transmitted infections. 2017 Dec;93(S4):S69-s80.
- 151. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Cost-effectiveness analysis of programmatic screening strategies for latent tuberculosis infection in the EU/EEA. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/cost-effectiveness-analysis-programmatic-screeningstrategies-latent-tuberculosis
- 152. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Mathematical modelling of programmatic screening strategies for latent tuberculosis infection in countries with low tuberculosis incidence. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018.
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis 153. B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug;67(2):370-98.
- 154. World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: WHO; 2015. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549059
- World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic 155. hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: WHO; 2018. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550345
- 156. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL recommendations on treatment of hepatitis C: Final update of the series. Journal of hepatology. 2020 Nov;73(5):1170-218.
- de Vos AS, Kretzschmar ME. Benefits of hepatitis C virus treatment: a balance of preventing onward 157. transmission and re-infection. Math Biosci. 2014 Dec;258:11-8.
- 158. Martin NK, Vickerman P, Dore GJ, Hickman M. The hepatitis C virus epidemics in key populations (including people who inject drugs, prisoners and MSM): the use of direct-acting antivirals as treatment for prevention. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2015 Sep;10(5):374-80.
- 159. Bennett H, McEwan P, Sugrue D, Kalsekar A, Yuan Y. Assessing the Long-Term Impact of Treating Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)-Infected People Who Inject Drugs in the UK and the Relationship between Treatment Uptake and Efficacy on Future Infections. PloS one. 2015;10(5):e0125846.
- 160. Trickey A, Fraser H, Lim AG, Walker JG, Peacock A, Colledge S, et al. Modelling the potential prevention benefits of a treat-all hepatitis C treatment strategy at global, regional and country levels: A modelling study. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2019 Dec;26(12):1388-403.
- Martin NK, Vickerman P, Dore GJ, Grebely J, Miners A, Cairns J, et al. Prioritization of HCV treatment in the 161. direct-acting antiviral era: An economic evaluation. Journal of hepatology. 2016 Jul;65(1):17-25.
- Hajarizadeh B, Grebely J, Martinello M, Matthews GV, Lloyd AR, Dore GJ. Hepatitis C treatment as 162. prevention: evidence, feasibility, and challenges. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016 Dec;1(4):317-27.
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment -163. Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis Treatment. Geneva2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240007048

- 164. World Health Organization (WHO). Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis and patient care,. Geneva: WHO; 2017. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255052/9789241550000-eng.pdf?sequence=1
- 165. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment, 2022 update. Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240063129
- 166. World Health Organization (WHO). Sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Geneva: WHO; 2023. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/sexually-transmitted-infections-(stis)
- 167. Rossi C, Butt ZA, Wong S, Buxton JA, Islam N, Yu A, et al. Hepatitis C virus reinfection after successful treatment with direct-acting antiviral therapy in a large population-based cohort. Journal of hepatology. 2018 2018/11/01/;69(5):1007-14. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168827818322888
- 168. Falade-Nwulia O, Sulkowski MS, Merkow A, Latkin C, Mehta SH. Understanding and addressing hepatitis C reinfection in the oral direct-acting antiviral era. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2018 Mar;25(3):220-7.
- 169. Sacks-Davis R, Daraganova G, Aitken C, Higgs P, Tracy L, Bowden S, et al. Hepatitis C virus phylogenetic clustering is associated with the social-injecting network in a cohort of people who inject drugs. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e47335.
- Islam N, Krajden M, Shoveller J, Gustafson P, Gilbert M, Buxton JA, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and prevention of hepatitis C reinfection: a population-based cohort study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017 Mar;2(3):200-10.
- 171. European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL). EASL Recommendations on Treatment of Hepatitis C 2018. Journal of hepatology. 2018 Aug;69(2):461-511.
- 172. Hellard M, Rolls DA, Sacks-Davis R, Robins G, Pattison P, Higgs P, et al. The impact of injecting networks on hepatitis C transmission and treatment in people who inject drugs. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2014 Dec;60(6):1861-70.
- 173. Metzig C, Surey J, Francis M, Conneely J, Abubakar I, White PJ. Impact of Hepatitis C Treatment as Prevention for People Who Inject Drugs is sensitive to contact network structure. Sci Rep. 2017 May 12;7(1):1833.
- Latham NH, Doyle JS, Palmer AY, Vanhommerig JW, Agius P, Goutzamanis S, et al. Staying hepatitis C negative: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cure and reinfection in people who inject drugs. Liver Int. 2019 Dec;39(12):2244-60.
- 175. Grimshaw C, Boyd L, Smith M, Estcourt CS, Metcalfe R. Evaluation of an inner city HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis service tailored to the needs of people who inject drugs. HIV medicine. 2021;22(10):965-70. Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/hiv.13181
- 176. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis: Module 1: prevention: tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240002906
- 177. Wright T, Hope V, Ciccarone D, Lewer D, Scott J, Harris M. Prevalence and severity of abscesses and cellulitis, and their associations with other health outcomes, in a community-based study of people who inject drugs in London, UK. PloS one. 2020;15(7):e0235350.
- 178. Hope VD, Ncube F, Parry JV, Hickman M. Healthcare seeking and hospital admissions by people who inject drugs in response to symptoms of injection site infections or injuries in three urban areas of England. Epidemiology and infection. 2015 Jan;143(1):120-31.
- 179. Trayner KMA, Palmateer NE, Hutchinson SJ, Goldberg DJ, Shepherd SJ, Gunson RN, et al. High willingness to use drug consumption rooms among people who inject drugs in Scotland: findings from a national biobehavioural survey among people who inject drugs. The International journal on drug policy. 2021 Apr;90:102731.
- Belackova V, Salmon A, Schatz E, Jauncey M. Online census of Drug Consumption Rooms (DCRs) as a setting to address HCV: current practice and future capacity: International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms, Correlation Network; 2017.
- 181. Belackova V, Salmon AM, Schatz E, Jauncey M. Drug consumption rooms (DCRs) as a setting to address hepatitis C findings from an international online survey. Hepatology, medicine and policy. 2018;3:9.
- 182. Bundle N, Bubba L, Coelho J, Kwiatkowska R, Cloke R, King S, et al. Ongoing outbreak of invasive and noninvasive disease due to group A Streptococcus (GAS) type emm66 among homeless and people who inject

drugs in England and Wales, January to December 2016. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2017 Jan 19;22(3)

- 183. World Health Organization (WHO). Action plan for the health sector response to viral hepatitis in the WHO European Region. Geneva: WHO; 2017. Available at:
- https://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/357236/Hepatitis-9789289052870-eng.pdf
- 184. World Health Organization (WHO). Monitoring and evaluation for viral hepatitis B and C: recommended indicators and framework. Geneva: WHO; 2016b. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/204790/9789241510288_eng.pdf?sequence=1
- World Health Organization (WHO), editor. Definitions and reporting framework for tuberculosis 2013 185. revision: updated December 2014 and January 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2013.
- 186. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe). Roadmap to implement the tuberculosis action plan for the WHO European Region 2016–2020. Towards ending tuberculosis and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (2016). Copenhagen: WHO/Europe; 2016. Available at: https://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf file/0020/318233/50148-WHO-TB-Plan May17 web.pdf
- WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS. WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS technical guide for countries to set targets for universal 187. access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users – 2012 revision. Geneva: WHO; 2012. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978924150437
- 188. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Health and social responses to drug problems: a European guide. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2017. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/6343/TI PUBPDF TD0117699ENN PDFWEB 201 71009153649.pdf
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA). Health and social responses to drug 189. problems: a European guide 20212021. Available at: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/healthand-social-responses-a-european-guide_en
- 190. Ijioma SC, Pontinha VM, Holdford DA, Carroll NV. Cost-effectiveness of syringe service programs, medications for opioid use disorder, and combination programs in hepatitis C harm reduction among opioid injection drug users: a public payer perspective using a decision tree. Journal of managed care & specialty pharmacy. 2021 Feb;27(2):137-46.
- Hunt H, Pollock A, Campbell P, Estcourt L, Brunton G. An introduction to overviews of reviews: planning a 191. relevant research question and objective for an overview. Syst Rev. 2018 Mar 1;7(1):39.
- Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, et al. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for 192. systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2017;358:j4008. Available at: https://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/358/bmj.j4008.full.pdf
- 193. Schünemann HJ, Higgins JPT, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Skoetz N, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al., editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 62 (updated February 2021). Cochrane2021.
- 194. Moberg J, Oxman AD, Rosenbaum S, Schünemann HJ, Guyatt G, Flottorp S, et al. The GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) framework for health system and public health decisions. Health research policy and systems. 2018 May 29;16(1):45.
- 195. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. A guideline developer's handbook. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2019. Available at: https://www.sign.ac.uk/media/1050/sign50_2019.pdf
- 196. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. 2015 Jan 1;4(1):1.
- Effective Public Healthcare Panacea Project. Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies. 197. Hamilton2020. Available at: https://www.ephpp.ca/guality-assessment-tool-for-guantitative-studies/
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging 198. consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2008 Apr 26;336(7650):924-6.
- 199. Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC). Reporting the effects of an intervention in EPOC reviews. London: EPOC; 2018. Available at: https://epoc.cochrane.org/sites/epoc.cochrane.org/files/public/uploads/Resources-forauthors2017/how to report the effects of an intervention.pdf

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

Gustav III:s Boulevard 40 16973 Solna, Sweden

Tel. +46 858601000 ECDC.info@ecdc.europa.eu

www.ecdc.europa.eu

Follow ECDC on social media

Twitter: @ECDC_EU

Facebook: www.facebook.com/ECDC.EU

Linkedin: www.linkedin.com/company/ecdc/



 Publications Office of the European Union